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Although my time as RSPB Chairman has coincided 
with a period of political and financial uncertainty, 
the RSPB has grown with the challenge and, 
buoyed by your support, is striving more than ever 
to save nature. The natural world faces 
unprecedented threats, and yet, with your backing, 
and with the collaboration of like-minded 
organisations, the RSPB continues to win many 
important victories. 
 
Our nature reserves go from strength to strength 
and this year we can celebrate the addition of St 
Aiden’s Nature Park near Leeds, which is home to 
bitterns and bearded tits. This follows decades of 
work to restore and safeguard this special place. 
Elsewhere across the UK, we’ve been adding to our 
nature reserve network and celebrating its role in 
boosting the fortunes of wildlife: Spring / Summer 
2016 broke records for a number of species on our 
reserves, including nightjars and Irish Lady’s tresses 
orchids, and Dartford warblers bred for the first time 
on two of our reserves in southern England. 
 
At a time when some international ties look fragile, 
the RSPB seeks to work across borders, to make 
new connections, and to reinforce long-existing 
ones. Nature doesn’t recognise political or 
geographical boundaries, and our nor must saving 
nature. As the UK partner of Birdlife International we 
have clear strategic goals for our work overseas. 
After three years of intensive effort, our ambitious 
project to collate data on all the known species 
across the UK’s Oversea Territories is complete. 
Combing through 300 years-worth of data has 
revealed more than 32,000 native species over 
1,500 of which occur nowhere else. This figure is an 
important baseline for future surveys, and for 
identifying conservation priorities over the coming 
years. 
 

 
Two species, the St Helena plover and Monserrat 
oriole, have been pulled from the brink of extinction 
in projects with partners. The Albatross Task Force 
celebrates 10 years of amazing success in reducing 
the accidental catching and killing of albatrosses 
and petrels by fisheries in the Southern Oceans. 
 
The State of Nature was back on the agenda during 
the year, with the indomitable Sir David 
Attenborough joining the partnership to launch this 
2016 report, updating the original 2013 study. While 
there is clear evidence that targeted conservation 
action works, the conclusion is clear – more needs 
to be done. 
 
Farming is at a crossroads as we face an uncertain, 
post-Brexit future. So many farmers are making a 
real difference for wildlife – the recovery of cirl 
buntings being a great example. That’s why we’re 
making the case for putting nature at the heart of 
future UK farm policies, to create a farmed 
landscape that supports healthy wildlife populations 
by 2030. 
 
Saving nature is a huge and complicated task. 
There is so much to be done, and we must increase 
our support from individuals, businesses, 
organisations and governments. We will continue 
work to inspire millions of people to step up and 
become the force for positive change that nature 
need. 
 
Whether it is standing behind our successful Defend 
Nature campaign, volunteering, taking part in our 
activities or helping us in other ways, members and 
supporters like you are the heart of everything we 
do. I have been blown away by your enthusiasm, 
commitment and generosity throughout my term as 
Chairman – I thank you from the bottom of my heart.
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RSPB accounts in context  
The accounts are presented here in a format that gives the reader an insight into the main numbers with some 
explanatory comments. 
 
Raising money for charitable purposes:  

 2017 2016 
 Income Cost) Available for 

charitable 
purposes 

Available for 
charitable 
purposes 

 £m £m) £m £m 
     
Membership subscriptions & donations 51.4 (10.5) 40.9 35.4 
Legacies 34.7 (1.0) 33.7 33.2 
Grants, corporate and trusts 20.8 (4.2) 16.6 20.5 
Trading  22.9 (20.3) 2.6 2.4 
Land income and fees for services 4.1 (0.0) 4.1 7.6 
Financial income and investment gains 6.7 (0.1) 6.6 1.6 

 _____ _____ _____ _____ 
Total  140.6 (36.1) 104.5 100.7 

 
 
 
 

 
Behind the headline of another record year for income, there is both hope – individual supporters – and 
concern – institutional supporters (grant funders and companies). 
 

• Almost three quarters of our money comes from individual supporters; in 2017, this was £77.9 million. 
The continuing commitment of long standing supporters and the engagement of new ones gives us the 
confidence to plan and deliver long term conservation programmes. However, in future under new 
regulation the express consent (opt-in) of each and every individual supporter will be required to allow 
the RSPB to continue to communicate about our work. Your help in doing this is essential to saving 
nature.  

 

• ‘Grants, corporate and trust income’ fell for the second year in succession.  The funding profile of large 
multi-year grants causes annual fluctuations. However, like many other charities we are feeling the 
effect of a more challenging financial climate with reduced amounts available from grant funding bodies. 
Leaving the EU is likely to have a detrimental impact on our ability to raise large multi-year grants; we 
are currently developing ways to offset the risk this poses to nature.  

 

• There were two main factors behind the increase in our ‘Financial income’.  First, the stockmarket had 
an exceptional year as a result of which our investment portfolio grew by £3 million. Second, we sold a 
long-held investment property which has released £3 million for our conservation work. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure on charitable purposes: 2017) 2016) 
   £m) £m) 

 
Research, policy and advisory (36.7) (37.4) 
Managing RSPB nature reserves (36.5) (34.0) 
Education and inspiring support (21.3) (21.5) 
Supporter care (4.4) (4.4) 
   _____) _____) 
Total expenditure (98.9) (97.3) 

   _____) _____) 
Surplus  5.6) 3.4) 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

_____) _____) 

    
 

 

 
£104.5 million available 
for charitable purposes 

i    rspb.org.uk 
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The ‘Surplus’ is after charging depreciation of £3.9 million but excludes the addition of nature reserves, 
visitor facilities and other assets of £6.1 million in 2017. 
 
The four categories of expenditure describe how we approach the delivery of conservation work. For more 
information on our activities, please see the Achievements, challenges and future plans section of our 
Trustees’ Report and Accounts, our Annual Review and our website (rspb.org.uk). 
 

• Our world class conservation work is rooted in sound science and evidence. We lead partnerships and 
encourage policy-makers to take the right decisions for nature – to have impact at scale at home and 
overseas.  

 

• We have management plans to protect and enhance habitats and protect species across all our nature 
reserves. 

 

• We inspire and enable everyone to do their bit – especially our members and supporters – because the 
challenge is too big to overcome alone. 

 

• We look after our million+ members and other supporters, keeping their contact details secure and up to 
date and informing them about our work. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assets and liabilities: 

 2017) 2016) 
 £m) £m) 
   
Nature reserves – land and buildings 196.3) 194.3) 
Equipment 4.1) 4.3) 
 _____) _____) 
Total  200.4) 198.6) 
   
Pension liability (90.3) (59.0) 
   
Cash and investments 35.8) 32.3) 
Stock, debtors and creditors 11.2) 11.9) 
 _____) _____) 
Total representing Available financial reserves 47.0) 44.2) 
 _____) _____) 
Total 157.1) 183.8) 
 _____) _____) 

 

 

• Every year we aim to increase the amount of land that we manage for conservation as this is one of the 
best ways of protecting the long-term security of habitats for nature. During the year, we added just over 
1,200 hectares to our nature reserves at a cost of £1.7 million.  As the availability of grant-funding for 
land purchase has declined in recent years, we have been working with partner organisations and new 
funders to find innovative ways to finance the purchase and management of land. 

 

• The ‘Pension liability’ continues to fluctuate – in 2015 it stood at £86 million and despite a fall in 2016 it 
has increased to £90 million in 2017. This is largely driven by factors outside our control: on the plus 
side, the assets of the pension scheme performed well but future liabilities increased because of a fall in 
long-term interest rates. On 31 March 2017, the defined benefit pension scheme was closed and staff 
were transferred to a defined contribution scheme. This should help to reduce future risk and the 
volatility of pension liablilities. The RSPB Trustees have agreed a long-term deficit recovery plan with 
the Pension trustees which minimises the impact on our conservation work.  This is underpinned by an 
agreement with the Pension Trustees that in the unlikely event of the RSPB being unable to meet its 
obligations to the scheme, specified land with a value of £57 million would pass to the Pension Fund. 

 

 

 In addition to generating 
income and spending it 

on important 
conservation work, we 

are also responsible for 
these assets and 

liabilities. 
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Amount held for future purposes: 

 2017) 2016) 
 £m) £m) 
   
Available financial reserves 47.0) 44.2) 
Held for specific purposes (13.8) (12.5) 
 _____) _____) 
Free financial reserves 33.2) 31.7) 

) 
Representing future expenditure cover of 16 weeks) 16 weeks) 
   
   
   

 

 

• We are committed to putting income and financial reserves to work as soon as possible. ‘Free financial 
reserves’ are held at a modest level to maximise the funds available for immediate conservation needs.  

• During the year, the Trustees reviewed the calculation of ‘Free financial reserves’. In so doing, they 
decided to include restricted and endowment funds within those held for specific purposes but exclude 
working capital and a threat fund. This change has been applied retrospectively to 2016 and resulted in 
an increase in the ‘weeks cover’ from 8 to 16 weeks.  

• Our financial projections anticipate that ‘Free financial reserves will fall over the next 3 years as we 
adapt to a changing and an increasingly competitive funding environment. To do this we will be looking 
at investing in new and innovative sources of funds, different delivery methods for our conservation work 
and ways to communicate and engage with our supporters using technology, which is especially 
important to our younger supporters. 

  

‘Available financial 
reserves’ are held for 

the following 
purposes  

iii rspb.org.uk 
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Trustees’ report 

Governance and structure 

 
Legal structure 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (‘the RSPB’ 
or ‘the Charity’) is a non-statutory body incorporated by 
Royal Charter. The Charity originated in 1889 and the 
Charter was granted in 1904. The Charter and Statutes 
together provides the rules and guidelines  
under which the RSPB operates. Supplemental Charters 
were granted by Her Majesty the Queen in 1957, 1996 
and 2014. Amendments to the Charter and the Statutes 
were approved by the Privy Council on 16 July 2014. 

The headquarters is in Sandy, Bedfordshire, with country 
headquarters in Wales (RSPB Cymru), Scotland (RSPB 
Scotland) and Northern Ireland (RSPB Northern Ireland), 
with regional offices in England, Scotland and Wales, 
and with nature reserves throughout the United 
Kingdom. 
 
The RSPB’s membership stands at over one million 
members, making it one of the largest voluntary wildlife 
conservation organisations in the world. 
 
The RSPB is the UK Partner of BirdLife International 
(registered charity number 1042125), the global 
partnership that strives to conserve birds, their habitats 
and global biodiversity and works with people towards 
sustainability in the use of natural resources. 
 
The RSPB group comprises the Charity and four 
subsidiary entities: RSPB Sales Limited, March Farmers 
(Washland) Limited, Farming for Nature and RSPB 
Cayman Islands Ltd. 
 

Patron 

Her Majesty the Queen 

Registration 

Charity registered in England and Wales (number 
207076) and in Scotland (number SC037654). 

Registered office 

The Lodge  
Sandy  
Bedfordshire SG19 2DL 

 

President   

Mrs Miranda Krestovnikoff  

 

Vice Presidents  

Dr Elizabeth Andrews MBE DL 
Sir David Attenborough OM CH CVO CBE FRS 
Mr Nick Baker 
Viscount Blakenham  
Mr Adrian Darby OBE 
Mr Ian Darling FRICS OBE 
Ms Kate Humble 
Professor Sir John Lawton CBE FRS 
The Earl of Lindsay 

Sir John Lister-Kaye Bt` 
Professor Ian Newton OBE FRS FRSE 
Mr Bill Oddie OBE 
Mr Chris Packham 
Mr Julian Pettifer OBE  
Sir Graham Wynne CBE 
Baroness Young of Old Scone 

Governing body 

The governing body is the RSPB Council which 
comprises 18 charity trustee posts (referred to as 
Council Members). These include the Chair of the 
Council, the Treasurer, the Chairs of the Country 
Advisory Committees, three general Council Members 
and 10 ordinary Council Members.  
 
The Council may nominate any person to the honorary 
office of President and appoint any person as Vice 
President. The President and Vice-Presidents are not 
Council Members. 
 
Council sets policy and is responsible for the conduct of 
the RSPB’s affairs and for ensuring that the Charity 
operates in accordance with the Royal Charter, the 
Statutes and the law. Policy is also influenced by 
Country Advisory Committees. 
 
The Charity operates a number of committees with 
specific roles, each reporting directly to Council.  
The Pensions subcommittee meets as required and 
the other committees meet four times each year.  
 
Conservation Committee approves conservation 
policy, considers and approves conservation 
objectives and monitors progress against these. 
 
Communications Committee considers and 
recommends to Council policies and strategies 
concerning the public reputation of the RSPB, its 
education and fundraising activities and its 
communications, including the role and development 
of adult and junior membership, and monitors 
progress. 
 
Finance and Audit Committee reviews financial 
performance, the financial plan and the internal and 
external audit processes, acts as the conscience of 
the RSPB in probity and compliance terms and 
considers the overall approach to risk management 
with oversight of a detailed risk register. 
 
Pensions Subcommittee considers and makes 
recommendations to Council on pension-related 
matters; it is chaired by an independent expert. 
 
Nominations Panel reviews the pattern of trustee 
retirement, identifies the skills and experience 
required to ensure Council’s effectiveness, oversees 
the checks to be conducted prior to nomination and 
scrutinises the applications and nominations received.  
The panel consists of four Council Members and two 
members of staff. 
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In the event of a vacancy, new ‘general’ trustees and 
the Chairs of Council and the Country Advisory 
Committees are nominated by Council. New ‘ordinary’ 
trustees are nominated by RSPB Members or Council. 
New Council Members are elected for a five-year term 
of office by the membership at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). 

Country Advisory Committees Policy and the impact 
the Charity has locally, is influenced by the 
committees for Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales and 
(recently established) England. These committees 
consist of a majority of non-trustees and are chaired 
by a Council Member and take on any duties 
specifically delegated to them from time to time..
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Council Chairman Professor Steve Ormerod FIEEM 
FLSW FRSB 

� � � � � � 

Treasurer and Finance & Audit 
Chairman 

Mr Graeme Wallace BA Econ � � � � � � 

Conservation Chairman Mr David Baldock � �   � � 

Communications Chairman Mr Nick Cross � �   � � 

Committee for Northern Ireland 
Chairman 

Mr Clive Mellon LLB (Hons) � �     

Committee for Scotland 
Chairman 

Professor Colin Galbraith BSc PhD � �     

Committee for Wales Chairman Dr Havard Prosser � �     
Trustee Professor Andrew Balmford FRS � �     
Trustee Mr John Bullock � � � �   
Trustee Helen Browning  

(appointed 13 December 2016) 

� �     

Trustee Mrs Sal Cooke OBE � �     
Trustee Mr Kevin Cox  

(retired 8 October 2016) 

� � � �   

Trustee Mr David Cramp � �     
Trustee Professor Rosie Hails  

(appointed 13 December 2016) * 

� �     

Trustee Professor David Macdonald CBE 
DSc FRSE 

� �     

Trustee Mr Stephen Moss � �     
Trustee Sir John Randall � �     
Trustee Mr Neal Ransome � � � �   
Trustee Ms Jennifer Ullman � � � �   

 
*Council Member appointed by Council as casual vacancy under Statute 4.7.1 
 

Management Board 

The day-to-day management of the Charity is delegated by Council to the Chief Executive and carried out by 
directors within the Management Board which consists of: 
 

Chief Executive Dr Mike Clarke  
 

Director, Conservation Mr Martin Harper  
Director, Finance and Information Systems 
Director, Corporate Services 
Director, Fundraising and Communications 

Mr Alan Sharpe (retired 16 January 2017) 

Ms Louise Parr-Morley (appointed 6 February 2017) 

Ms Beth Thoren (resigned  21 September 2016) 

Ms Rebecca Munro (appointed 3 January 2017) 

Director, People Ms Ann Kiceluk  
Director, International Operations Dr Tim Stowe 
Director, Operations Mr Shaun Thomas  
Director, Scotland Mr Stuart Housden OBE 
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Principal professional advisers  

Bankers 
Lloyds Bank plc 
249 Silbury Boulevard 
Secklow Gate West 
Milton Keynes 
Buckinghamshire MK9 1NA 
 
Co-operative Bank plc 
4th Floor  
9 Prescot Street 
London E1 8BE 

Independent auditor 
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP 
Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors 
St. Bride’s House 
10 Salisbury Square 
London EC4Y 8EH 

Insurance broker 
Griffiths & Armour 
Drury House 
19 Water Street 
Liverpool L2 0RL 

Investment adviser 
Cambridge Associates 
80 Victoria Street 
Cardinal Place 
London SW1E 5JL 
 

Pension actuary 
Mercers 
One Christchurch Way 
Woking GU21 6JG  

 

Pension administrator 
Lane Clark Peacock LLP 
95 Wigmore Street 
London W1U 1DQ 

Legal advisers 
Clifford Chance LLP 
10 Upper Bank Street 
London E14 5JJ 
 
Hewitsons 
Shakespeare House 
42 Newmarket Road 
Cambridge CB5 8EP 
 
Mills & Reeves 
Botanic House 
100 Hills Road 
Cambridge CB2 1PH 

 
Turcan Connell 
Princes Exchange 
1 Earl Grey Street 
Edinburgh EH3 9EE 
 
Reed Smith LLP 
The Broadgate Tower 
20 Primrose Street 
London EC2A 2RS 
 
Withers LLP 
16 Old Bailey 
London EC4M 7EG 
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Trustee effectiveness 
 
Following their election to Council, each trustee 
receives a briefing pack outlining their role, duties 
and accountabilities, together with information 
about the RSPB, its policies, structures and work. 
Each trustee completes a register of interests and 
related party transactions: this register is updated 
annually and whenever any changes occur. An 
induction day, taking a strategic look at the roles 
and responsibilities of trustees and management, is 
offered to each new trustee. They are also offered 
opportunities to learn more about specialist areas 
of our work, through individual meetings with staff 
and site visits to nature reserves throughout the 
UK. A special weekend event is held each year in 
an area of high nature conservation importance, 
focusing on species and habitat management work 
being undertaken. Similar events are held for the 
Country Advisory Committees.  
 
An effectiveness review is carried out periodically, 
allowing each trustee to comment confidentially 
and the results are considered in the light of best 
practice in the charity sector. 
 

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities 

The trustees are responsible for preparing the 
Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with FRS102 - The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland.  

The law applicable to charities in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland requires the trustees 
to prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Charity and the group and of the 
incoming resources and application of resources of 
the group for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements, the trustees are required to:  

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP); 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements;  

• prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Charity will continue in business.  

 
The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Charity’s transactions, disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Charity and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the 
reporting and legal regulations and the provisions 
of the Charity’s constitution as set out in the 
Charter and Statutes. 

They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Charity and the group and for taking 
reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.  

Oversight of remuneration 

To ensure clear governance and transparency, 
the remuneration of the Chief Executive is 
determined by a committee comprising the 
Treasurer and Chairs of Conservation and 
Communication; chaired by the Chair of Council.  
The performance of the Chief Executive is 
subject to formal appraisal by the committee 
against previously agreed measures and is 
discussed at an annual appraisal meeting. 
Based on that assessment and taking account of 
salaries paid in comparable organisations, 
remuneration is set and the outcome reported to 
Council. Any recommendation is made in line 
with the RSPB’s pay policy for all employees. 
Council is ultimately responsible for setting and 
reviewing the salary of the Chief Executive, who 
in turn is responsible for setting and reviewing 
the salaries of the Management Board. 
 

Risk management 

The trustees are responsible for identifying and 
managing the major risks facing the Charity. Risk 
management is well established at the RSPB and is 
considered in every aspect of its work. Managing 
large areas of countryside, much of it visited by many 
people, entails risk and demands constant attention. 
In response to the recommendations set out in the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS102), the trustees 
consider the risk register on an annual basis. In 
undertaking this work, the trustees review risk in its 
broadest sense and consider anything that might 
alter or undermine the capacity of the Charity to fulfil 
its charitable objectives. 
 
The register provides a comprehensive view of the 
following areas of risk: 

• our responsibility to staff, supporters, volunteers 
and visitors; 

• our reputation; 

• physical assets (including data and financial 
assets); 

• retaining and maintaining know-how; 

• the external environment; 

• our sources of income. 
 
This annual risk review assesses each of the major 
risks and the effectiveness of the arrangements for 
managing them. The review is scrutinised by Council. 
Following the most recent review in June 2017, the 
trustees confirmed that they are satisfied with such 
arrangements and identified a number of strategic risks 
which are more fully explained in the following section, 
Achievements, challenges and future plans. 
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Objectives, activities and public benefit 

The objectives of the RSPB as set out in the Charter 
are to: 
 
1) promote the conservation of biological 

diversity and the natural environment for the 
public benefit, in particular but not exclusively 
by:  

(a) conserving wild birds and other 
wildlife, and the environment on 
which they depend; and  

(b) protecting, restoring and re-
creating habitats. This includes 
raising public understanding and 
awareness of, and providing 
information on, such matters. 

2) advance education of the public in 
conservation of the natural environment. 

 
The trustees confirm that they have referred to the 
guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit when reviewing 
objectives and activities which are described in the 
section, Achievements, challenges and future plans. 
 
The RSPB recognises that birds and the rest of 
nature are interconnected – they are all part of the 
web of life, or biological diversity. In addition, our 
own future is directly linked to the health of our 
environment, the home we share. In common with 
other charities, our desire is to make things better for 
the public good by both tackling the causes of harm 
as well as directly helping to save nature from that 
harm. We believe that we will have the greatest 
impact if our strategy is informed by the values of our 
supporters but also by our understanding of the 
evidence of the state of the natural world. 
 
We have a range of means of achieving our objectives 
and public benefit.For the purposes of preparing the 
accounts, these means are grouped under four main 
headings: Research, policy and advisory, Managing 
RSPB nature reserves, Education and inspiring 
support, and Supporter care.  

Research, policy and advisory  

• We integrate work across the UK, in the UK 
Overseas Territories, and internationally. All of 
our conservation work is underpinned by 
research and investigation, much of which is 
carried out by our scientists and specialist 
advisers. 

• Birds and their habitats are affected by a wide 
range of human activity. Our policy work 
therefore covers a broad range of issues, from 
agriculture to energy, transport, overseas aid, 
education and the economy. 

• We seek to influence land-use and economic 
policies so that the environment is at the heart 
of all Government decisions. 

• We defend and promote the implementation of 
laws and policies designed to protect wildlife. 

Managing RSPB nature reserves 

• We manage nature reserves, which are home 
to populations of 80% of the most rare or 
threatened bird species in the UK. 

• We acquire new reserves, following a Council-
agreed strategy, and devote resources to 
safeguarding and recreating habitats. 

• We provide facilities, including classrooms and 
viewing areas, to enhance the visitor 
experience on our reserves. 

Education and inspiring support 

• We work with the support of our members and 
other supporters to use their voice most 
effectively to benefit nature conservation. 

• We seek to connect young people to nature at 
all stages of their development through their 
formal education and their leisure. 

Supporter care 

• We provide services to our members and 
supporters and respond to more than 270,000 
enquiries each year. 

• We administer our relationship with around two 
million individuals including members, supporters 
and volunteers. 

• We send our members a magazine to keep them 
aware of and involved with our work..  

• Our website receives around 20 million visits 
each year. 

Fundraising activities 

Generating funds 

• We receive most of our financial support from 
individuals through a range of activities. RSPB 
supporters are the foundation of everything we 
do. 

• We aim to build lasting support from institutional 
bodies. These include statutory grant funders, 
trusts and corporate businesses. 

• Much of what we do to deliver conservation also 
generates income. This ranges from land and 
farming income through to the sale of research 
to other appropriate organisations. 

• Our trading operation focuses on the sale of 
bird care products, optics and educational 
material to support our work. 

Giving nature a home is only possible thanks to the 
generosity of our supporters and members. 
 
Our promise to our supporters is that; "Saving 
nature is the motivation for everything we do. We 
are dedicated to inspiring every generation to have 
a lifelong commitment to the natural world.  
 
We always seek to improve how we work and 
welcome your feedback. We fundraise in a fair and 
responsible way and ensure funds are spent in the 
most effective way to save birds and wildlife. We 
show our gratitude for your money, time and the 
action you take for nature. We share with you the 
latest news of what you are helping us to achieve, 
and give you control over how you hear from us." 
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To achieve this we have to raise vital funds by 
carrying out fundraising. Our staff do this with the 
help of carefully selected professional fundraisers 
and commercial participators.  

• Professional fundraisers are fundraising 
agencies or third party service providers who 
act as agents in raising funds on the Charity’s 
behalf.   

• Commercial participators are usually 
businesses who encourage the sale of goods or 
services on the basis that the Charity will 
receive funding as a result.   

In all cases, we make sure we have contractual 
arrangements in place with these fundraising 
partners that set out the standards and obligations 
that must be met in all our fundraising activities. 

We work closely with all our fundraising partners to 
ensure that, together, we act in accordance with 
the high standards that both the RSPB and the 
public expect. We regularly monitor the quality of 
all outbound telephone marketing calls and conduct 
mystery shopping with our face-to-face fundraisers. 
We seek feedback from all new members to 
understand their experience of joining us, thus 
identifying any areas where we can make further 
improvements.   

As part of our promise, we ensure that fundraising 
is conducted to the highest quality and that 
practices and procedures are in place and closely 
adhered to - particularly in protecting individuals 
who may be in vulnerable circumstances. All RSPB 
fundraisers are properly trained and we have set 
clear guidance to help them when encountering 
someone in a difficult situation.  

The RSPB is a member of the Institute of 
Fundraising and the Direct Marketing Association, 
and is registered with the Fundraising Regulator. 
Alongside our high standards, where possible, we 
go beyond their Codes of Practice to ensure that, in 
our fundraising efforts, supporters have the best 
possible experience.  

The RSPB complies with the Data Protection Act 
and the Information Commissioner’s guides and 
code. Whilst we endeavour to provide an 
exemplary service, we do not always get it right. 
Last year we received 183 complaints about our 
fundraising from just over 19 million conversations, 
by phone, post, email, SMS or face-to-face. Each 
complaint was fully investigated and improvements 
made to allow us to retain supporter trust, improve 
our service and together fight to save nature.  

Volunteers 

In all activities, we receive extensive assistance from 
volunteers, who are at the heart of what we do and 
achieve; without their help, our work would be greatly 
diminished.  
 
Volunteers founded the RSPB in 1889 and they are 
still fundamental to our work. They carry out a variety 
of roles, from practical conservation and field 
surveys, to support for office and retail activities. In 
addition, hundreds of thousands of people put time 
and enthusiasm into the RSPB’s citizen science 
projects, such as the Big Garden Birdwatch.
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Achievements, challenges and future 
plans 

 
The RSPB has a long history of making a positive 
change for nature. We are spearheading the wider 
world’s efforts to halt biodiversity loss and restore 
lost habitats. In short, we give nature a home, and 
we are among the very best at it.  
 
The effectiveness of our conservation methods is 
demonstrated by our track-record of successes: 
helping re-introduce white-tailed eagles and red kites 
to the UK, restoring whole landscapes of lost 
heathland and wetland, bringing wildlife criminals to 
justice, and helping shape the legislation which gives 
legal protection to wildlife, on land, and at sea.  
 
Despite these successes, many species are still 
declining and so more needs to be done: by the 
RSPB, our partners and wider society. Our plans for 
the future will define the ways in which we will do this 
– most importantly, by working in partnership. These 
partnerships will include the sectors, organisations, 
businesses, and individuals with a stake in the health 
of our natural world.  
 
Prudence and pragmatism are 
stitched into every aspect of our 
work. Each year, we analyse our 
achievements to keep a constant 
measure of our effectiveness. As 
we proceed, our trustees consider 
any possible risks and 
uncertainties that we might face, 
considering any factors that might 
affect our financial position and our 
ability to survive and thrive as a 
charity. These risk assessments 
inform how and where we apply 
our resources, and are therefore vital to 
understanding why we do things the way we do. As 
such, they are disclosed within this section of the 
Trustees’ Report. Managing risk is well established 
across the RSPB’s work and this is brought together 
in the annual review of risks undertaken by the 
charity trustees. 
 
It is not possible to convey in these few pages the full 
depth and detail of all the RSPB’s efforts and 
accomplishments, but here you will find a summary 
of the key successes, the challenges facing us, and 
our future plans.  
 
Nature conservation: achievements 
 
Acquiring new land for nature is one of the most 
important aspects of our conservation work, and this 
year we have successfully added 1,228 hectares to 
our owned or leased land, giving a home to even 
more threatened species. Our reserves represent a 
successful, tangible and accessible way of 
conserving wild birds and other wildlife. In addition to 
protecting and enhancing the habitats that support 
many species, we are also able to create inspiring 
visitor experiences, and demonstrate, directly, the 
benefit to the public of conserving the natural world 
and the wealth of nature it supports. The following 

examples from 2016-17 continue to build on our 
target of doubling our land holding by 2030. 
 
At our Mersehead nature reserve in Scotland, we 
acquired a 110 hectares extension, which includes 
saltmarsh, wetland and dune grassland. This is an 
important addition, as it finally connects the two 
halves of the reserve, allowing us to create an even 
bigger and better mosaic of habitats for species 
including Svalbard barnacle geese, natterjack toads, 
and breeding lapwings, curlews, redshanks and 
snipe. 
 
After years of negotiations, we have succeeded in 
signing a deal which allows us to manage St Aidan’s 
Nature Park, near Leeds. The 400 hectares wetland 
on a former opencast coal-mining site already has 
breeding bitterns, bearded tits and lapwings. The 
proximity of this stunning reserve to the city means 
the site has huge potential for reaching new visitors. 
It is also near our Fairburn Ings reserve, bringing us 
closer to our ambition to manage a chain of wetlands 
along the Aire valley and bring the benefits of these 
exciting places to more people. 
 
Other significant additions to our nature reserves 
include a management agreement at Loch Spynie – 
the largest freshwater reedbed in Scotland; and 

Whitton Sands – an area of 
intertidal mudflats which surrounds 
our Hook Island reserve on the 
Humber, and which is home to 
several thousand ducks, geese 
and wading birds in the winter.  
 
We work to an agreed and 
objective set of species priorities; 
our nature reserves are one direct 
means of positively influencing 
these priorities, and so we are 
delighted to announce that the 

2016 breeding season has been a terrific year on our 
reserves. For the second year running, nightjars and 
woodlarks were at their highest ever numbers on our 
heathland reserves; our common crane re-
introduction partnership has helped boost the UK 
population, with 48 breeding pairs counted in 2016; 
bearded tits bred for the first time at RSPB Langford 
Lowfields; and on Ramsey Island, we recorded a 
huge increase in the number of Manx shearwaters – 
4,796 occupied burrows – up 25% since the last 
count in 2012.  
 
Our wetland reserves continue to be vital refuges for 
new colonists and recovering breeding birds: great 
white egrets fledged young at Avalon Marshes in 
Somerset; bitterns had another brilliant year, with 76 
male birds, counted by their booming calls, across 
our reserves; and a pair of little gulls bred at our 
Loch of Strathbeg reserve in Scotland – this is the 
first known successful breeding of little gulls in the 
UK.  
 
This year we also saw the first evidence of breeding 
smooth snakes at RSPB Aylesbeare Common nature 
reserve in Devon – seven years after a successful 
translocation project.  

For further details, please refer 
to the RSPB’s Annual Review 

2016–17, visit www.rspb.org.uk, 
write to Supporter Services, The 
RSPB, UK Headquarters, The 
Lodge, Sandy, Bedfordshire 

SG19 2DL, call 01767 693690 
or email 

membership@rspb.org.uk. 
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Within our role as the UK partner of BirdLife 
International, we have clear strategic goals relating 
to the nature we share with the rest of the world. Our 
focus is on British nature in our Overseas Territories, 
our migratory flyway and in the Southern Ocean to 
save albatrosses. After three years of intensive work, 
our ambitious project to collate data on all the known 
species across the UK’s Overseas Territories 
(UKOTs) is complete. Combing through 300 years 
worth of data has revealed more than 32,000 native 
species, over 1,500 of which are endemic. This is the 
first time the natural riches of the UKOTs have been 
revealed. It establishes a vital baseline for future 
surveys and highlights priorities for further 
conservation work. 
 
Thanks to long-running conservation initiatives, we 
have worked with partners to bring back two of these 
species from the brink of extinction. The St Helena 
plover (locally known as the wirebird) is found only 
on St Helena in the South Atlantic. The species had 
declined to only 208 individuals in 2006, but following 
work to create new habitats, and to control invasive 
species, the latest count in 2016 was 500 plovers - a 
great achievement. And the Montserrat oriole is also 
recovering well. This species is found only on the 
island of Montserrat in the Caribbean. It lost two 
thirds of its habitat after a series of volcanic 
eruptions, but it is finally increasing in numbers, 
following a programme of work to 
manage the remaining habitat.   
 
Staying overseas, the Albatross 
Task Force (ATF) is celebrating 
10 years of successes for 
seabirds. The ATF was created 
to stop albatrosses and petrels 
being accidentally caught and 
killed by fisheries in the Southern 
Ocean. The team goes out onto 
fishing boats on some of the roughest waters in the 
world to teach fishermen how to deploy simple 
measures that keep seabirds off the fishing hooks. 
Since its inception, the ATF has achieved a 99% 
reduction in albatross deaths in the South African 
hake trawl fishery, and seven of the 10 fisheries 
originally identified as the worst seabird danger 
zones have now adopted regulations to protect 
seabirds during fishing operations.  
 
The RSPB continues on its path to becoming a 
centre for scientific excellence, and our researchers 
have contributed important work to global 
conservation efforts over the last year.  
 
We were one of the lead authors of the new State of 
Nature 2016 report – a follow-up to the 2013 report. 
This new document, which pools the expertise and 
knowledge of over 50 wildlife organisations, has 
shown that more than one in 10 British species is 
threatened with extinction. The report celebrates 
where conservationists are helping nature, but 
concludes that we must do more.  
 
Two of our staff researchers were recognised by 
external institutions for their outstanding 
contributions to conservation science: Professor 
Jeremy Wilson was elected as a Fellow of the Royal 

Society of Edinburgh, and Richard Gregory was 
awarded an Honorary Professorship at University 
College London.  
 
Puffin numbers have plummeted across the UK and 
Europe, leading to the species being declared as 
vulnerable to global extinction. It is thought that one 
of the main threats to puffins is warming seas caused 
by climate change, which might be disrupting their 
food chain and therefore their ability to raise chicks. 
This is why we have begun new research to help 
them.  Project Puffin includes three different 
strategies: Global Positioning System (GPS) tags to 
track where puffins go to feed; puffin population 
counts at key colonies; and an initiative to get visitors 
involved, by asking them to become ‘Puffarazzi’ – 
taking photos of puffins with food in their bills, so we 
can get the first national snapshot of what puffins are 
feeding to their chicks. 
 
Declines of migrant species are happening at a 
faster rate than for other species, and to help us 
conserve them we need to understand the threats 
they face along the whole of their migratory flyway. 
One such species is the European turtle dove, the 
UK’s fastest declining species. We have tagged a 
number of turtle doves in order to discover the routes 
they take between Europe and Africa, and the 
important places where they stop, both along the 

route and at their final destination 
south of the Sahara. This has 
helped us understand both what 
habitats are important and which 
areas are particularly favoured 
by these birds, information that 
we can use to help protect the 
species throughout the year. 
  
Turtle doves are not the only 
farmland bird species in trouble, 

and the RSPB has been working in partnership with 
farmers for many years to aid their recovery. 
Agriculture, and our relationship to how our food is 
produced, is a long-term strategic priority for the 
RSPB. With 75% of the UK’s land used for 
agriculture, farmland is a vital wildlife habitat. So in 
2016, we collaborated with WWF-UK, the Wildlife 
Trusts and the National Trust to launch a new vision 
for farming. The vision makes the case for putting 
nature at the heart of future UK farm policies, and it 
outlines ambitious goals to create a farmed 
landscape that supports healthy wildlife populations 
by 2030.  
 
Working with farmers is reaping huge benefits for 
wildlife. Just one example is the cirl bunting. Cirl 
buntings were on the brink of extinction 25 years 
ago, but thanks to a partnership with more than 100 
farmers and Natural England in south-west England, 
we have boosted the area’s population to over 1,000 
pairs. Our work alongside farmers on how to give 
nature a home on their land makes a massive 
difference.  
 
Another big success has been our work with farmers 
to save stone-curlews. We have just come to the end 
of a four-year EU LIFE+ project to create new habitat 
for this species. In partnership with farmers and 

The Albatross Task Force (ATF) is 
celebrating 10 years of successes 
for seabirds. The ATF was created 

to stop albatrosses and petrels 
being accidentally caught and killed 
by fisheries in the Southern Ocean. 
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Natural England, we have created nearly 300 safe 
nest plots each year, and 3,000 hectares of habitat – 
that is the size of a small city. We hope that the 
stone-curlew population will be self-sustaining within 
five years.  
 
Nature conservation: risks, challenges and future 
plans 
 
Following the result of the EU referendum, the UK is 
in a state of uncertainty, and this will inevitably have 
an impact on nature conservation as we look ahead. 
This will include the prospect of greater devolution. 
The recent establishment of a new country 
committee for England within the RSPB ensures we 
will be well placed to respond in relation to the 
changing nature of the UK.  
 
Traditional funding streams are changing, and there 
is the danger that the legislation which underpins our 
conservation work could be weakened. But there are 
opportunities too.  
 
The external challenges to nature conservation 
contain both opportunities and risk. It is clear that the 
implications of Brexit create a considerable level of 
uncertainty that requires us to assess the full 
implications as they become known, and respond 
accordingly. We have established a high-level, cross-
organisational project to ensure 
we are fully engaged with the 
Brexit process as it affects our 
charitable objects. 
 
As part of this work, the RSPB 
has helped establish a coalition 
of like-minded organisations, 
Greener UK, to make the case 
for nature throughout this period 
of withdrawal from the EU. The 
coalition has made a case to put the health of our 
natural world at the heart of policies affecting wildlife 
laws, food and farming, climate and carbon, and the 
marine environment and fisheries.  
 
Nature knows no boundaries, and so conservation 
work should be conducted in a spirit of co-operation 
across borders. We continue to work with partner 
organisations, including BirdLife International to 
ensure that saving nature is a co-ordinated, global 
effort. The RSPB leads 28 international partners and 
supporting agencies as part of SAVE (Saving Asia’s 
Vultures from Extinction) which is working to 
conserve five species of Asian vulture. In the UK 
Overseas Territory of St Helena, our partnership with 
the St Helena National Trust is helping to change the 
fortunes of one of the rarest invertebrates in the 
world – the spiky yellow woodlouse. 
 
Leaving the EU, and therefore the Common 
Agricultural Policy (CAP), will create both risks and 
opportunities for farming and wildlife. The CAP 
provides significant funding for conservation through 
agri-environment schemes, and the future of these 
schemes is now uncertain, presenting real short-term 
risks for nature in the UK. However, replacing the 
CAP as a whole does offer a longer-term opportunity 

to create policies in the UK that are better for nature, 
and which can support more sustainable agriculture.  
 
In the marine environment, the slow progress of 
identification and designation of Marine Protected 
Areas (MPA) is a concern. More and more evidence 
is showing that warming seas are disrupting the food 
chain, resulting in dramatic population declines of 
seabird species. As part of our 2020 target for 
sustainable marine management, we will continue 
our work to secure MPAs in UK waters for all marine 
wildlife, through campaigning, addressing data gaps 
and striving to ensure designated sites have effective 
protection. 
 
There are challenges in the uplands too. With 
continuing species declines, we must give a home to 
nature on a landscape scale if we are going to halt 
and reverse the losses. A reappearing threat to the 
upland environment is the expansion of forestry 
activities, often considered a climate change 
mitigation measure. While deforestation remains a 
major cause of biodiversity loss around the world, 
forestry plantations often make poor wildlife habitat.  
 
Our response to these challenges will involve 
focussing our work on key priorities, building ever-
more effective partnerships and, as always, basing 
our approach on the best available evidence. Our 

work to save nature across the 
hills and moors of the UK is a 
high strategic priority for the 
RSPB, and reflects the 
concentration of priority species 
and threatened wildlife in the 
uplands. 
 
Education and inspiring 
support: achievements 
 

Saving nature is a huge and complicated task. There 
is so much to be done, and we can’t do it on our 
own. To save nature, we must increase our support 
from individuals, businesses, organisations and 
governments. We work to inspire millions of people 
to step up and become the force for positive change 
that nature needs.  
 
Our volunteers are at the heart of everything we do. 
The RSPB has 2,000 staff members, and over 
12,000 volunteers. We simply couldn’t do what we do 
without them.  
 
Every year, our President’s Awards go to volunteers 
who have made an extraordinary contribution to our 
work. We only give six a year, which makes them 
very special, just like the people that they recognise. 
Included in this year’s Awards were: Alan Gray and 
Audrey Parry, who have raised over £60,000 for the 
RSPB; Brian Nolan, who has raised over £30,000; 
the Chough Watch Team in Cornwall who protect 
chough nests from disturbance; Eleanor Brennan, 
who has given so much energy as one of our ‘Bird-
friendly schools’ volunteers; Peter Merchant, who 
has been volunteering for 29 years, and plays a 
major role in maintaining Havergate Island on the 
Suffolk coast; and Roger Kiddie, a 35-year RSPB 
volunteer veteran, who has inspired thousands of 

Every year, our President’s Awards 
go to volunteers who have made an 

extraordinary contribution to our 
work. We only give six a year, 

which makes them very special, 
just like the people that they 

recognise. 
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children and adults through his moth-trapping and 
bird-ringing demonstrations at events.  
 
We campaign on our highest strategic priorities, 
seeking to enable our supporters and others to add 
their voices to a powerful, evidence-based message. 
Two years ago, the Nature Directives, which are the 
legal framework upon which nature conservation 
depends, were under threat of being revised and 
weakened. We led a public campaign – Defend 
Nature, in partnership with other conservation 
organisations to raise public support for the 
Directives. The response was enormous. Our 
supporters rallied together creating a powerful force 
for nature. It was their combined enthusiasm that 
helped win the day. In December 2016, the 
European Commission made the decision to 
safeguard the Nature Directives. It was a terrific 
victory.  
Another great surge of support for nature came on 
Valentine’s Day. Once again, the RSPB joined forces 
with other charities and organisations to encourage 
people to think differently about climate change and 
to inspire them to act. Ridley Scott Associates 
created a special film featuring a poem from award-
winning Anthony Anaxagorou, performed by 
celebrities including Charles Dance and Miranda 
Richardson, and with music by Elbow and the NHS 
choir. This love song to nature was watched over a 
million times online. Many of our nature reserves 
took part in the campaign, running special events to 
celebrate the day.  
 
More than 10,000 people took 
part in our campaign to protect 
Lodge Hill in Kent. Last year, 
Medway Council announced 
plans to include Lodge Hill, one 
of the only sites in the UK to be given protected 
status for its nightingales, in its development plans. 
At the time of writing, we are awaiting a response 
from Medway Council.  
 
An RSPB-led consortium has now been given 
planning permission for a new visitor centre in 
Sherwood Forest as part of a £5.3 million investment 
programme. Work on the new centre begins this year 
with it set to open in 2018 when we will also take 
over the management of the spectacular ancient 
woodland of this National Nature Reserve, which 
contains more than a 1,000 ancient oaks. The centre 
will provide a gateway to the forest and help connect 
thousands of people with nature in Robin Hood’s 
legendary home.  
 
We promote the conservation of nature, its benefit to 
the public and public education about our work in 
many ways. Last year, RSPB reserves inspired 
millions of people across the UK when they were 
featured in three BBC nature programmes. 
Springwatch at RSPB Minsmere, Suffolk, regularly 
attracted viewing figures exceeding 2.5 million. 
Autumnwatch at Arne, Dorset, attracted a record 3.6 
million viewers on the first night of broadcast, and 
Winterwatch in January 2017 – again from Arne, 
received 3.4 million viewers. Thanks to the incredible 
teams at our reserves and the BBC crew, all three 
shows were a success, bringing bearded tits and 

bitterns, adders and water voles into homes across 
the country.  
 
In Scotland, our Giving Nature a Home project in 
Glasgow continues to inspire people across the city 
to connect with the urban wildlife around them. In 
September 2016, the third annual Glasgow Wildfest 
took place, this time celebrating nature’s architects. 
Working with partners, organisations, community 
gardens, artists, and schools right across the city, 
over 30 events took place through the month with 
activities and opportunities that all ages could get 
involved in. 2017 sees the Giving Nature a Home 
project in Glasgow celebrate its 10th anniversary 
with a series of special events taking place to mark 
this milestone and all that it has achieved so far. 
 
We are one year into our partnership with Aldi to help 
connect children with nature. The retailer has so far 
donated £775,000 from the sale of its carrier bags, 
and this has allowed over 50,000 children to enjoy 
more than 75,000 hours of wild fun and inspiration in 
15 cities across Britain. The funding is expected to 
reach over £2 million by the end of 2018.  
 
It was another great year for the RSPB’s fourth Big 
Wild Sleepout. The event encourages families to 
discover the secret world of nocturnal wildlife – in 
their own gardens, green spaces or one of our 
reserves. We ran events across the UK, including 
sunset walks, camping nights, bushcraft workshops, 

stargazing, bat spotting, moth 
trapping and mouse hunts.  
 
As well as being homes for 
nature, our nature reserves are 
important places for us to help 
connect people with nature. And 

this year, Bempton Cliffs has been especially 
successful in that regard. Staff and volunteers 
welcomed more than 100,000 visitors to the new 
Seabird Centre in 2016, putting us on track to 
achieve a 10% growth in visitor numbers.  
 
We maintain a diverse range of income streams, 
which together help build the financial stability of the 
charity and help us fulfil our conservation mission. As 
well as legacy income, appeals are very important. 
We mail our supporters to ask for their support in 
funding specific projects. One of our fundraising 
successes this year was the RSPB Mersehead 
appeal, which reached its £285,000 target, enabling 
us to buy the important reserve extension mentioned 
earlier in this report.  
 
‘Trading’ generated £2.6 million mainly from retail, 
mail order and trade channels such as garden 
centres. The majority of products purchased by 
members and supporters, such as bird food, feeders, 
optics and wildlife books, contribute directly to our 
conservation objectives. 
 

RSPB reserves inspired millions of 
people across the UK when they 

were featured in three BBC nature 
programmes. 
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Education and inspiring support: risks, 
challenges and future plans 
 
Helping children connect with nature is essential to 
our future success, and we have identified this as a 
key strategic issue for the RSPB. This is why we 
have launched a new scheme of online awards: Wild 
Challenge. Wild Challenge encourages children, 
families and schools to go out and explore, to 
engage with nature in their gardens and surrounding 
areas, and to take action for nature throughout the 
year. By completing multiple activities, participants 
can collect bronze, silver and gold Wild Challenge 
awards. It will be a fun and rewarding experience, 
and, we hope, will inspire a lifelong love of nature in 
the people who will grow up to be caretakers of our 
natural world.  
 
We are also planning to expand our work with people 
living in urban areas, helping to connect them with 
nature. The State of Nature report revealed that 47% 
of urban species have declined, including swifts. 
Following the success of our first Swift Cities in 
Belfast and Oxford, we are planning to expand the 
project to create other UK Swift Cities, with the aim of 
having a national network. Our Swift Cities project 
aims to reverse the decline of swifts by raising public 
awareness of their plight, 
encouraging residents to help 
monitor swift populations, and by 
developing partnerships with 
planners, developers, local 
authorities and businesses to 
protect and provide nest sites in 
developments and renovations.  
 
We are proud of our long 
campaigning heritage, which has 
helped to win many battles for 
wildlife, and we work hard to 
influence political decision-making to protect our 
natural world for future generations. Our supporters 
are the driving force in these campaigns, and right 
now, it is vital that we keep up the momentum we 
have been building for decades, as the UK’s 
withdrawal from the EU may present new challenges 
for nature. The RSPB is campaigning for the laws 
that protect nature to remain as strong after Brexit as 
before, and is calling for a full transposition of the 
Nature Directives into UK law via the Great Repeal 
Bill. 
 
We must do more work of this kind, and over the 
coming months, we will develop our plans to grow 
the RSPB’s impact. We must continue to work hard 
to ensure our relevance to decision-makers in each 
of the UK’s four countries. We will find ways to 
evolve our relationship with supporters and 
encourage greater participation in our work, and 
empower them to act locally. We must be their 
charity, helping them to make a difference for nature.  
 
Supporter care: achievements 
 
The work we do to save nature would not be possible 
without our supporters, and we are hugely grateful 
for all that they do. The sheer scale of the challenge 
to save nature requires ongoing support in all of its 

guises: donating, joining, buying from our shops, 
volunteering, campaigning, and taking part in our 
annual events, such as Big Garden Birdwatch.  
 
Hitting a record of 1,222,985 members is an 
achievement built on our investment in the benefits 
members receive – such as our magazine, Nature’s 
Home. Our commitment to retaining our existing 
members is rewarded with a retention rate of 87%. 
The uplifting levels of support we enjoy are further 
enhanced through our volunteering development. 
Our Wildlife Enquiries service is widely used by our 
members and supporters as we answer their 
questions and concerns about wildlife, conservation 
and our work. 
 
Our long-term commitment to enabling individuals to 
support us through their legacies has resulted in 
another record-breaking year with our supporters’ 
generosity totalling almost £35 million. That level of  
support from people who choose to help save nature 
by remembering us in their wills means that legacies 
make up around one third of the RSPB’s income.  
 
Behind the scenes we perform vital work to ensure 
we comply with relevant regulations and best 
practices to protect supporter data and financial 

transactions from hacking and 
attack.    
 
Supporter care: risks, 
challenges and future plans 
 
In recent years, there has been 
increased scrutiny on the role 
and remit of the charity sector 
and its operating practices, and 
this has led to a damaging loss 
of trust in many charities. Our 
approach has always been to 

ensure that we work to the highest standards to 
address this risk directly; we are determined to go 
further to build trust and pride in the RSPB amongst 
our members and supporters through the way we 
operate. In 2017, we continued our work on this 
promise to our supporters, to ensure that our 
fundraising practices and data protection measures 
reach the best quality possible. 
 
The relationship we have with our members and 
supporters and how we engage and fundraise with 
them is fundamental, and continues to be shaped by 
regulatory changes. This year we will be asking our 
members and supporters for consent to contact them 
in the future – this means we will ask them to ‘opt in’ 
and choose the ways they would like to hear from us 
most, whether by mail, email, phone or text. Moving 
to ‘opt-in’ gives our supporters control over how they 
hear about conservation news, saving nature 
successes and ways to support us in the future. We 
will start asking our members and supporters how 
they want to hear from us from the autumn. This 
move allows us to comply with changes in UK 
legislation taking effect in May 2018.  
 
We take data protection and cyber security very 
seriously, and we are actively working to safeguard 
all our technology assets. Security awareness 

This year we will be asking our 
members and supporters for 

consent to contact them in the 
future – this means we will ask 
them to ‘opt in’ and choose the 

ways they would like to hear from 
us most, whether by mail, email, 

phone or text. 
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activities and our IT Literacy project will ensure that 
all RSPB staff understand the value of information 
assets and understand the part they must play in 
protecting them. 
 
To ensure the RSPB is fit to take on the challenges 
of this new era, as political, technological and 
regulatory changes continue to develop rapidly, we 
have refreshed our strategy to help us fulfil our 
Saving Nature ambitions. Over the coming months, 
we will be developing plans to ensure that the RSPB 
is on a firm and long-term financial footing. This will 
enable us to invest in our capabilities to deliver even 
more for nature.  
 
We will continue to develop and grow the relationship 
with our supporters and inspire greater participation 
for our cause. We will also be at the forefront of 
building movements alongside our partners to deliver 
a step-change in the protection of important places 
for wildlife on land and at sea.  
 
This work will include investing in our digital 
communications skills and capacities. We will enable 
RSPB staff to make better use of the web and social 
media to interact with our supporters. And we will 
strive to become more relevant to people, by 
recognising their particular interests and where they 
live in the UK. 
 
Our efforts to engage better with people will not be 
limited to the digital realm. We 
will continue to provide 
outstanding visitor experiences 
on and off our reserves, helping 
connect people with nature in 
their local area, and constantly 
looking for opportunities to 
improve the way we do this.  
 
The strength of the RSPB and our achievements 
each year could not happen without the continuing 
public support we receive for our work. With 
increased devolution, deregulation and uncertainty, 
as well as the implications of the EU referendum 
result, the financial, political, moral and social 
support we receive is more important than ever. This 
support is the fuel that will enable us to make the 
biggest impact we can to save nature. 
 

Financial review 

 
The accounts, which form part of this report, comply 
with the requirements of FRS102 – The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland. The trustees consider that in preparing these 
accounts, they have consistently applied appropriate 
accounting policies supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates where required.  
 
A resolution to appoint the firm Crowe Clark Whitehill 
LLP as auditors to the organisation was passed at the 
Annual General Meeting on 8 October 2016. 
 
During 2017, the trustees carried out a formal tender 
process to review the provision of audit services. Four 
short-listed audit firms were met and evaluated by 

trustees. Based on an assessment of continuing 
independence, value for money and relevant skills and 
experience the trustees decided to retain Crowe Clark 
Whitehill LLP. 

Financial reserves policy 

The RSPB holds financial reserves to be applied to 
future activities in a number of categories: 

• Unrestricted – available to be applied, at the 
discretion of the trustees, to any of the RSPB’s 
charitable purposes. 

• Restricted – to be applied to the specific 
purpose(s) intended by the donor. 

• Endowment –restricted funds that are to be 
retained for the benefit of the Charity as a capital 
fund. Permanent endowments require the capital to 
be maintained and only the income and capital 
growth can be utilised. With expendable 
endowments the capital may also be utilised. 

 
Each year the trustees consider the appropriate level 
of free reserves. They review the RSPB’s 
requirements and consider a sustained fall in income 
of 10–15% to be a reasonable basis for setting a 
minimum level. It is the intention of the trustees to 
hold sufficient reserves to enable expenditure to be 
reduced in a managed fashion, should the need 
arise, avoiding the need to halt work abruptly. The 
trustees have agreed that free reserves should 
normally be within a range of 8–16 weeks’ of 

expenditure. 

Investment policy and powers 

The RSPB’s investment 
powers are as set out in the 
Charter and Statutes, and 
are wider than those 

contained in the Trustees Investment Act 2000.  
 
The RSPB’s primary investment objective is to maintain 
the real value of its investments. However, as a 
proportion of the financial reserves are likely to be held 
in the longer term it is appropriate to invest 
conservatively a proportion of the funds to generate 
income and/or real growth.  
 
Investment properties arising from legacies are 
managed by the RSPB until disposal. 
 
In managing investments, wherever possible, we follow 
the principles of Socially Responsible Investing (SRI). 
These principles are to: 

• invest in companies that make a positive 
contribution to society. 

• use influence as an investor to encourage best 
practice management of social responsibility 
issues. 

• avoid investing in companies whose activities 
conflict strongly with RSPB objectives. 
 

The trustees rely upon specialist advice for fund 
selection and allocation. Investment performance is 
compared to an independent benchmark and the 
target for investment returns is to outperform this 
composite benchmark by at least 1% per annum 
over a rolling three-year period.  
 

We will continue to develop and 
grow the relationship with our 
supporters and inspire greater 

participation for our cause. 
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Through our investment managers, we aim to 
minimise exposure to fossil fuel. As measured by the 
commonly used Carbon Underground 200 index 
(maintained by Fossil Free Indexes, LLC) we held a 
de minimis exposure to fossil fuels (circa 0.2%) at 31 
March 2017. In June 2017, we disinvested all funds 
with an exposure to this index.  

Financial report on the year 

 
Summary 
We are pleased to be able to report another 
positive year in financial terms. Income available 
for charitable purposes at c£105 million is the 
highest it has ever been. Similarly, expenditure at 
£99 million (excluding land purchases) is at its 
highest level too. Our conservation successes on 
the preceding pages give a flavour of the things 
that we have been able to achieve during the year. 
 
Behind the headline numbers, there are things to 
celebrate but there are financial challenges to deal 
with too.  At the beginning of the 2017 financial 
year, the trustees were mindful that we were still in 
a period of uncertainty with a potential impact on 
our financial projections and our ability to deliver 
vital conservation work. Ending the year with a 
surplus was a positive outcome that sets us up 
well to face these financial challenges. 
 
The decision to leave the EU and changes to data 
protection regulations will affect both categories of 
our income: individual (membership subscriptions, 
donations, trading, legacies) and institutional 
(grants, corporate and trusts). 
The EU is an important source of 
income which helps to cover our 
recurring land management 
costs and one-off costs of large-
scale projects such as the Isles 
of Scilly Seabird Recovery 
Project. Other sources of funding 
may become available to us as 
the Brexit negotiations develop 
and conclude over the coming 
years.  
 
The changes in data protection regulations mean 
that we will need to review how we communicate 
with our members and supporters. We have taken 
the decision to move to requesting their explicit 
consent (‘opt-in’) before we can contact them to 
ask for their support. Retaining our supporters’ 
trust, so that they continue to contribute financially 
and with their time, is of paramount importance to 
us. However, there is an associated cost of 
upgrading our systems and collecting data and a 
risk that the number of current supporters that we 
are able to contact will reduce. We are working 
hard in these areas to minimise the impact on our 
ability to give nature a home. 
 
The pension scheme has become a regular 
feature of these reports over the last few years and 
this year is no exception. The pension deficit, 
having reduced to £59 million in 2016 has reverted 
to the 2015 level of being close to £90 million. An 
increase in the value of scheme assets following a 

good year for stock market gains has been 
eclipsed by a further reduction in long-term interest 
rates which has pushed up the scheme liabilities. 
After a consultation process with staff, the trustees 
closed the defined benefit pension scheme. On 1 
April 2017, all staff in the scheme were transferred 
to a new defined contribution scheme which will, in 
time, reduce the volatility and risk of this important 
staff benefit.  
 
Against this backdrop, we are pleased to be able 
to report a modest increase in income and 
conservation expenditure and a modest increase 
in our ‘Available financial reserves’. These 
reserves are earmarked to invest in new and 
innovative sources of funds, different delivery 
methods for our conservation work and ways to 
communicate and engage with our supporters 
using technology, which is especially important to 
our younger supporters. 
  
Income 
Net income (money available for charitable 
purposes) grew to c£105 million. An increase of 
close to 4% on 2016 is pleasing but it represents a 
mixture of consistently strong performance in some 
areas, one-off items which, whilst welcome, are not 
necessarily repeatable and one or two areas of 
concern which we will need to address.  
 
All income streams associated with individual 
supporters have performed well which is particularly 
pleasing and for which we are most grateful. It is 
backed up by another year of membership growth – 

we now have 1,222,985 
members. The retention rate of 
our adult members is a key 
indicator for us; at just under 
87% it gives us an indication of 
the strength of support that we 
have. Not only does the 
membership underpin our 
financial security but it also 
enables us to speak with 
confidence and authority when 

we undertake our advocacy work.   
 
One of the ways that we have been able to increase 
income from our supporters is by putting them in 
control of how much and how frequently they want to 
pay for their membership. Almost three quarters of 
our members have taken up this ‘flexi-membership’ 
option and the average subscription rate for these 
members is over 40% higher than those who have 
remained on the classic model.  
 
One of the areas of concern that we face is the 
impact of new EU data protection rules on our ability 
to offer our supporters choices like this – about how 
much and how often they pay. To uphold the new EU 
rules and related guidance on best practice, from this 
autumn we will be asking for our supporters’ express 
permission to communicate with them about our 
conservation work, campaigning, volunteering and 
fundraising. It is called ‘opt-in’. As a charity that relies 
on the loyalty of our supporters, we are whole-
heartedly behind ensuring that individuals do not 
receive unwanted communications from us. In the 

All income streams associated with 
individual supporters have 

performed well which is particularly 
pleasing and is backed up by 

another year of membership growth 
– we now have 1,222,985 

members. 
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next few months, we will start writing to all of our 
supporters to ask them whether they wish to ‘opt-in’. 
We know our supporters will take the time to 
consider the options and impact before responding 
and will want to stay engaged. 
 
One-off items that have made an impact on the 
finances this year include two generous individual 
donations valued at over £1 million each. One was 
donated for the purchase of a specific piece of land 
and the other was a donation of actual land.  
 
We also sold an investment property for which, as 
good financial management and charity law requires, 
we were obliged to achieve the highest value 
possible.  With this sale, we were able to release £3 
million for conservation.  Finally, the stock market 
has performed exceptionally well this year and our 
investment portfolio returned a gain of £3 million.  
These amounts are included within ‘Financial income 
and investment gains’.  
 
The drop in income from institutions – ‘Grants, 
corporate and trusts’ - was disappointing. It is the 
second year in succession that income from these 
sources has fallen.  By far the largest of these three 
types of income is grants. In 2017 these totalled 
c£18 million and in 2016 they were c£21 million.  A 
high proportion of our grant-funded projects are 
multi-year undertakings where timing of the income 
can cause annual fluctuations. However, we have 
also seen a reduction in the funding received from 
both European Union and United 
Kingdominstitutions. In future, while continuing to 
seek funds from these sources, we will continue to 
invest time in seeking new income from, for example, 
corporate bodies. One such company that we are 
delighted to be working with is Aldi – with a quick 
search on the internet you will find this ...  
 

Bringing children closer to nature 
 

Buy a bag from Aldi and it won't just carry your 
shopping home - it'll also fund a national 

conservation programme. Supermarket Aldi is 
celebrating the first anniversary of its educational 

partnership with the RSPB which has seen the UK's 
leading discount retailer donate £775,000 from the 

sale of its carrier bags. 
 

Funded by Aldi, the RSPB’s Connecting Children 
with Nature project has allowed over 50,000 children 
to enjoy more than 75,000 hours of fun, exciting and 
educational nature experiences in 15 cities across 

Britain. 
 
Building RSPB awareness with our supporters and 
helping to generate income are both important 
aspects of our relationship with our 50 business 
partners – these are listed in the Acknowledgments 
section.  
 
One such partnership which drew to a close recently 
was the one with Crossrail Ltd who have been 
helping us to create the habitat at Wallasea. This 
meant a reduction in ‘Land and farming’ income of 
£2.8 million from 2016. 
 

Legacy support is crucial to our success; not only is 
it financially important but it gives a strong sense of 
our supporters wanting to invest in conservation for 
the benefit of future generations. In 2017, at c£35 
million, legacy income edged even further ahead of 
last year’s all time high. 
 
Our trading strategy is based around building a 
quality range of products that support our charitable 
aims and underpin our sustainable and ethical 
standards. We are delighted that so many of our 
supporters share the same beliefs and continue to 
buy from us year after year. Overall, commercial 
trading income reached £22.9 million (up £0.4 million 
on 2016) with strong demand for goods from both 
our retail and catering offerings on reserves and our 
mail order operation.  
 
Net income is shown after deducting £36.1 million 
cost of generating funds. This includes the cost of 
goods for resale of £14 million. Unlike many other 
charities, we do not sell donated products. 
 
Expenditure 
Financial planning for most charity organisations 
involves trying to predict income levels and plan 
work programmes to maximise the use of the funds 
available. Complexities in financial planning arise for 
a number of reasons. For example, the long-term 
nature of our work means that when we start a 
programme we will want to continue it until complete 
– the most effective way to deliver conservation is to 
do so uninterrupted. Almost a quarter of our income 
is entrusted to us for a particular purpose; this is 
termed ‘restricted’ or ‘endowment’ income. It is a 
valuable source of funds to us and an important 
mechanism for donors as it ensures their donation is 
used for the purpose that they intended. It is 
therefore vital that sustainable unrestricted income 
(e.g. subscriptions), which can be applied to any of 
our charitable activities, is sufficient to fund our long-
term conservation work. 
 
The diversity of our income sources gives us the 
financial stability to plan our conservation work, 
including education, and deliver it in line with our 
Saving Nature Strategy.  In 2017, we increased 
expenditure on charitable activities by £1.6 million to 
£98.9 million. We spent a further £4.6 million on 
acquiring land and investing in visitor facilities. This 
allowed us to expand our nature reserves at 
Mersehead, Ham Wall and Forsinard. We also 
invested in the infrastructure on our reserves 
including a new field centre at Forsinard.  
 
Our expenditure on ‘Research, policy and advisory’ 
at around £37 million is reasonably stable from one 
year to the next but the composition of activities and 
projects within this figure does change. For example, 
last year we increased our expenditure for the 
Gough Island Restoration Programme where non-
native species pose an immediate threat. Gough is 
home to several species found nowhere else and 
hosts significant populations of globally threatened 
species. Conversely, we were able to decrease 
expenditure on our defence of the EU Nature 
Directives following the news in December 2016 that 
the European Commission had agreed that the 
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Nature Directives should not be opened up and 
changed, but instead should be better put into 
practice to work as intended. This was a huge victory 
for nature protection across national boundaries. 
 
The amount that we spent on managing our nature 
reserves increased by £2.5 million to £36.5 million in 
2017. On all 214 nature reserves, we undertake a 
wide range of activities from habitat restoration and 
management to improving visitor experience. This 
category of expenditure includes both the running 
costs that are incurred every year and project costs - 
both of which help to maintain and improve the 
conservation status of these important habitats. 
Adding to our network of land each year also 
increases the overall management costs. Whilst we 
continually endeavour to find 
better and more cost-effective 
ways of working, the increasing 
number of hectares that we 
manage brings into sharp focus 
the need to increase income 
from our supporters.  
 
One such new addition is Sherwood Forest where 
we are looking forward to opening a new reserve and 
visitor centre - famously home to the legendary 
outlaw Robin Hood and one of the most well known 
forests in the world. We are working in partnership 
with Sherwood Forest Trust, Continuum Attractions 
and Thoresby Estate on a £5.3 
million investment programme to 
provide an excellent visitor 
experience and preserve the 
forest for generations to come. 
Nottinghamshire County Council 
will remain responsible for the 
current visitor facilities and the 
forest until the new reserve and 
visitor centre opens in 2018. 
 
Without our activities to ‘Educate and inspire support’ 
the scale of our conservation impact would be much 
reduced. Whatever category our supporters fall into – 
staff, volunteers, members, politicians, grant funders, 
trusts, partners and so on – we need to encourage 
their continued support. Whilst this is something that 
transcends all age groups, we pay particular 
attention to winning the hearts of the young. Our 
membership offerings for the under 12’s – Wildlife 
Explorers – and over 12’s – Phoenix – are great 
ways to encourage the next generation. The 
partnership with Aldi is playing a key role in reaching 
out to children.  
 
Our online presence continues to grow with social 
media becoming an increasingly important channel 
for our digital communications. We have become 
recognisable within the industry for our approach to 
social media and we are continuing to develop and 
drive forward a strong online community.  Continuing 
to invest in our capability to communicate in this 
digital age is a vital part of conservation delivery by 
encouraging others to give nature a home. 
 
Financial reserves & pension 
With a modest surplus in 2017, our ‘Available 
financial reserves’ at 31 March 2017 stand at £47 

million. Of this, £13.8 million is ‘Held for specific 
purposes’ – these are funds entrusted to us under 
donor restrictions to be spent on specific activities in 
the future. This leaves our ‘Free financial reserves’ at 
£33.2 million which represents 16 weeks of 
prospective expenditure.  
 
In 2017, the trustees reviewed the methodology for 
calculating ‘Free financial reserves’ utilising advice 
regarding Charity Commission guidance from our 
external auditors, Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP. In 
doing so, ‘Free financial reserves’ are calculated as 
‘Available reserves’ less restricted and endowment 
funds. This change has been applied retrospectively 
to 2016 and resulted in an increase in the future 
expenditure cover from 8 to 16 weeks. Through 

prudent financial management, 
we maintained our expenditure 
cover of 16 weeks at the end of 
2017. Our financial projections 
over the next 3 years anticipate 
that ‘Free financial reserves’ will 

fall as we adapt to a changing and increasingly 
competitive funding environment and the effects of 
the new EU data protection rules. To do this, as 
mentioned before, we will be investing in new and 
innovative sources of funds, different delivery 
methods for our conservation work and improved 
ways to communicate and engage with our 
supporters using technology.  

 
As mentioned earlier, the 
‘Pension liability’ continues 
to change from one year to 
the next.This is largely 
driven by factors outside 
our control:performance of 
the assets in the pension 
scheme and sensitivity of 

pension liability to changes in interest rates. as 
recently as 2014, the interest rate was 4.6% but 
this year it is 2.6%. Since March 2016, the rate 
has fallen by 1% addingto the future liability 
calculation. 
 
The trustees have taken many steps over the 
years to reduce costs and risk of the pension In 
addition to closing the defined benefit 
scheme,the RSPB Trustees have agreed a 
deficit recovery plan with the Pension Trustees 
over the coming years which minimises the 
impact on our work. This is underpinned by an 
agreement with the Pension Trustees, that in 
the unlikely event of the RSPB being unable to 
meet its obligations to the scheme, specified 
land with a value of £57 million, would pass to 
the Pension Fund. 
 
Outlook for the future 
From a financial perspective, there is much to 
celebrate and be optimistic about. Income has 
grown consistently for a number of years and 
this is testament to a resilient organisation with 
varied income streams. However, continued 
growth cannot be taken for granted; there are 
two notes of caution. First, as mentioned 
earlier, the outlook for  grants looks to be 
challenging.. Second, the 2017 level of 

Continuing to invest in our 
capability to communicate in this 

digital age is a vital part of 
conservation delivery by 

encouraging others to give nature a 
home. 

We are well placed, with financial 
reserves to see us through the 

immediate challenges that we face. 
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‘Financial income and investment gains’ was 
higher than ususal and is unlikely to be 
repeated in the future. 
 
We are reasonably well placed, with financial 
reserves to see us through the immediate 
challenges that we face. These include the 
evolving statutory funding environment, Brexit 
implications and the EU data protection 
changes. We need to maintain and improve the 
cost effectiveness of our conservation delivery 
programmes, find new ways to generate 
financial support and improve our digital 
communication capability.  

 
As ever, the demands of nature conservation 
outstrip resources available and therefore we 
will have to continue to make tough decisions 
and choose the highest priorities to tackle. 

 
 
Signed on behalf of the Council 
Professor Steve Ormerod 
Chairman
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Trustees of the Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds 

We have audited the financial statements of the Royal 
Society for the Protection of Birds for the year ended 
31 March 2017 which comprise the Group Statement 
of Financial Activities, the Group and Charity Balance 
Sheets, the Group Statement of Cash flows and the 
related notes numbered 1 to 25.  

The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
FRS102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as 
a body, in accordance with section 154 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and section 44(1c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the charity’s trustees those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the charity and the charity’s trustees as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' 
Responsibilities, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  

We have been appointed as auditor under section 151 
of the Charities Act 2011 and section 44(1c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and report in accordance with those Acts.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This 
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the charity's circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the trustees; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Trustees’ Annual Report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the 
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and the charity’s affairs as at 31 
March 2017 and of the group’s incoming 
resources and application of resources for 
the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with FRS102, the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Charities Act 2011 and 
the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and Regulations 6 and 8 
of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. 

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Charities Act 2011 or the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the information given in the Trustees Annual 
Report is inconsistent in any material respect 
with the financial statements; or 

• sufficient accounting records have not been 
kept by the parent charity; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or 

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.  

 

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

London 

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP is eligible to act as an 
auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 
2006.
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Consolidated statement of financial activities  
for the year ended 31 March 2017 
 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS  

Note Unrestricted) 
funds) 
£’000 ) 

Restricted 
       funds 
       £’000 

Endowment( 
funds( 
£’000( 

2017) 
Total( 
£’000( 

2016) 
Total) 
£’000) 

Voluntary income      ( 
Membership subscriptions and donations 3 45,503) 5,862) -) 51,365( 47,722( 
Legacies 4 29,915) 4,784) -) 34,699) 34,062) 
Grants, corporate and trusts 5 701) 20,195) (84) 20,812) 23,806) 
  _______)    _______ _______ _______) _______) 

Total voluntary income  76,119) 30,841) (84) 106,876( 105,590( 
       
Commercial trading  22,921) -) -) 22,921) 22,543) 
       
Investment income and interest 6 162) -) 12) 174( 212( 
       

Charitable activities      
Land and farming income  2,114) -) -) 2,114) 4,961) 
Fees and grants for services  1,082) -) -) 1,082( 1,698( 
Events and media sales  

 
 904) 

_______) 
-) 

   _______ 
-) 

_______) 
904( 

_______) 
966( 

_______) 

Total income from charitable activities  4,100) -) -) 4,100( 7,625( 
       
Other income       

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 6 
 

108) 
_______) 

-) 
   _______ 

-) 
_______) 

108( 
_______) 

1,024( 
_______) 

Total income  103,410) 30,841) (72) 134,179( 136,994( 
  _______) )_______) )_______) )_______) )_______) 
EXPENDITURE ON:       
Cost of raising funds       

Costs of commercial trading  20,336) -) -) 20,336) 20,086) 
Costs of generating voluntary income  15,683) -) -) 15,683) 16,547) 
Investment management costs  

 
143) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
143( 

________ 
107( 

________ 
Total cost of raising funds 36,162) -) -) 36,162( 36,740) 
       
Net resources available for charitable activities 67,248) 30,841) (72) 98,017( 100,254( 

       
Charitable Activities       

Research, policy and advisory  26,924) 9,785) -) 36,709) 37,401( 
Managing RSPB nature reserves  19,848) 16,604) -) 36,452( 34,082( 
Education and inspiring support  19,725) 1,589) -) 21,314) 21,466) 
Supporter care  

 
4,454) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
4,454) 

_______) 
4,375) 

_______) 
Total expenditure on charitable activities 70,951) 27,978) -) 98,929( 97,324( 

       
       

Total expenditure 

 

Net gains on investments 

7 

 

107,113) 

 

6,532) 

_______) 

      27,978 

 

                 - 

_______( 

-) 

 

-) 

_______) 

135,091) 

 

         6,532) 

  _______) 

134,064) 

 

           471) 

  _______) 
NET INCOME / (EXPENDITURE) 
  

2,829) 
_______) 

2,863) 
_______) 

(72) 
_______) 

5,620) 
_______) 

3,401) 
_______) 

Actuarial (losses) / gains on pension scheme 
 

24             (32,378) 
_______) 

                -                    
(((_______ 

                 - 
_______) 

 

(32,378) 
_______ 

27,688 
_______ 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 
 
 

 (29,549) 
_______) 

2,863) 
    _______ 

(72) 
_______) 

(26,758) 
_______) 

 31,089 
_______) 

Reconciliation of funds       

Total funds brought forward                38,056 
_______) 

144,317) 
_______) 

1,459) 
_______) 

   183,832 
_______) 

    152,743 
_______) 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  
 

8,507) 
_______) 

147,180( 
_______) 

1,387) 
_______) 

   157,074 
   _______ 

    183,832 
_______) 

       
 
All the above results arise from continuing activities.  Detailed comparative information is provided in note 25. Notes 1 to 25 form an 
integral part of these accounts. 
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Charity and consolidated balance sheets 
as at 31 March 2017 

  
Note 

2017) 
Consolidated) 

total) 

2016) 
Consolidated) 

total) 

2017) 
Charity) 

2016) 
Charity 

 

  )£’000) £’000) £’000) )£’000) 
Fixed assets      
            Nature reserves 11 196,278( 194,322( 195,728( 193,772( 
            Other tangible assets 11 4,080( 4,329( 4,080( 4,329( 
            Investments 12 24,717( 21,727( 24,717( 21,727( 
            Investment in subsidiary companies 12 -( -( 3,801( 3,801( 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
  225,075) 220,378) 228,326) 223,629) 
      
Current assets      
           Stock 25 3,922) 3,209) -) -) 
           Debtors 13 18,391) 20,462) 22,396) 23,302) 
           Short-term cash  11,058) 10,583) 6,679) 6,440) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
  33,371) 34,254) 29,075) 29,742) 
      
      
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 14 (10,232) (10,948) (9,180) (9,653) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Net current assets  23,139) 23,306) 19,895) 20,089) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
      
Total assets less current liabilities   248,214)  243,684)  248,221) 243,718) 
      
Creditors amounts falling due in more than one year 16 (826) (840) (826) (840) 
  )_______) )_______) ))_______) 

) 
_______) 

Net assets excluding pension liability 
 

 247,388) 242,844) 247,395) 242,878) 

Pension scheme liability 24 
 

(90,314) 
_______) 

(59,012) 
_______) 

(90,314) 
_______) 

  (59,012) 
_______) 

Net assets including pension liability  157,074) 
_______) 

183,832) 
_______) 

157,081) 
_______) 

183,866) 
_______) 

The funds of the charity 
Unrestricted funds 

     

General funds  36,797) 35,552) 36,804) 35,586) 
Designated funds  62,024) 

 
61,516) 

 
62,024) 

 
61,516) 

Pension reserve 24 (90,314) 
 

_______) 

(59,012) 
 

_______) 

(90,314) 
 

_______) 

(59,012) 
 

_______) 
  8,507) 

 
38,056) 

 
8,514) 

 
38,090) 

Restricted funds  147,180) 144,317) 147,180) 144,317) 
Endowment funds  1,387) 1,459) 1,387) 1,459) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total Funds 20 & 21 157,074) 

(   +_______) 
183,832(   

+_________) 
157,081) 

_______) 
183,866) 

_______) 

Notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these accounts. 
 
Authorised for issue by RSPB Council on 4 July 2017 and signed on behalf of the Council by: 

 

 
 
Steve Ormerod                                                                 Graeme Wallace 
Chairman                  Treasurer 
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Application of net incoming resources 

for the year ended 31 March 2017 2017) 
£’000) 

 

2016) 
£’000) 

 
Net resources available for charitable purposes 
Less Total expenditure on charitable activities 

)98,017) 
(98,929) 

)100,254) 
(97,324) 

 _______) _______) 
Net (outgoing) / incoming resources before gains / (losses) (912) 2,930) 
(Losses) / gains on investments and pension scheme (25,846) 28,159) 

 _______) _______) 
Net movement in funds as per Consolidated statement of financial activities (26,758) 31,089) 
 _______) _______) 
   
Application of net funds for charity use:   

Nature reserves 1,956) 4,529) 
Other tangible assets (249) 249) 
Movement on stock, debtors and creditors (628) 7,634) 
Movement on pension scheme (31,302) 27,510( 

 _______) _______) 
 (30,223) 39,922) 
   
Movement in cash and investments available for future activities 3,465) (8,833) 
 ) ) 
Cash and investments available at start of year 32,310) 41,143) 
 _______) _______) 
Cash and investments available at end of year 35,775) 32,310) 
 _______) _______) 

 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
 for the year ended 31 March 2017  

Note 
2017) 
£’000) 

2016) 
£’000) 

Cash flows from operating activities  ( ( 
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 23 1,274) (1,679) 

    
  ( ( 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Interest and dividends received  156) 212) 
Additions to Nature reserves  (4,597) (6,968) 
Purchase of Other tangible fixed assets  (1,519) (2,034) 
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets  518) 1,165) 
Purchase of investments 
Sale of investments 

 (40) 
5,500) 

(286) 
261) 

  ______)) ______)) 
Net cash used in investing activities  18) (7,650) 

 
 

   

    
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting periods 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 

 1,292) 
13,112) 

(9,329) 
22,441) 

  ______) ______) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 
 

 14,404) 13,112) 

    
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash in hand 
Notice deposits (less than 3 months) 

  
11,058) 
3,346) 

_______) 

 
10,583) 
2,529) 

_______) 
Cash and cash equivalents  14,404) 13,112) 
  _______) _______) 
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Notes to the accounts 

1 Charity information 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds is a non-
statutory body incorporated by Royal Charter and a 
charity registered in England and Wales (number 
207076) and in Scotland (number SC037654). The 
address of the registered office is The Lodge, Sandy, 
Bedfordshire, SG19 2DL. 

2 Accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The accounts have been prepared to give a ‘true and fair’ 
view and have departed from the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent required to 
provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has involved 
following the Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) 
issued on 16 July 2014 rather than the previous Statement 
of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities, which was effective from 1 April 2005 but which 
has since been withdrawn. Other standards applied in 
preparation of these financial statements include the 
Charities Act 2011, the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). 
 
The RSPB meets the definition of a public benefit entity 
under FRS102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised 
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s). 
 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 
and having considered future plans and forecasts including 
a review of financial reserves as detailed in the Trustees’ 
report, the trustees believe it appropriate to continue to do 
so. 
 
The Statement of financial activities (SOFA) and balance 
sheet consolidate, on a line-by-line basis, the financial 
statements of the Charity and its subsidiary 
undertakings. 
 
The Charity has taken advantage of the exemption in 
FRS102 from the requirement to prepare a charity-only 
cash flow statement and certain disclosures about the 
Charity’s financial statements. 
 
The RSPB’s commercial activities are undertaken by 
its wholly-owned trading subsidiary, RSPB Sales 
Limited, and all profits are donated under Gift Aid to 
the RSPB. RSPB Sales Limited was incorporated as a 
company in 1992 to conduct trading activities in 
support of the RSPB’s charitable objectives. The 
principal activity is the sale of goods by mail order and 
through retail outlets. The company is registered under 
company number 02693778.  
 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited, company 
registration number 01039814, is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary acquired in 2008 to secure the leasehold 
interest in land in Cambridgeshire. 
 

Farming for Nature, a company limited by guarantee, 
registration number 07982175, was incorporated in 2012. 
This entity is being used in relation to land leased from 
United Utilities at Haweswater in Cumbria.  
 
RSPB Cayman Islands Nature Limited, a wholly-owned 
dormant subsidiary and a non-profit company limited by 
shares, registration number 304647, was established in 
2015 to acquire a parcel of freehold land in the Cayman 
Islands to support the protection of biodiversity.  
 
The group also includes four other wholly-owned 
dormant companies limited by shares: RSPB Farmers 
Limited, RSPB Farmers (North) Limited, RSPB Farmers 
(South) Limited and RSPB Farmers (West) Limited.  
 
The RSPB holds a 33% joint venture interest in Yayasan 
Konservasi Ekosistem Hutan a non-profit organisation 
registered in Indonesia and established to facilitate the 
acquisition and management of the Harapan Rainforest 
in Sumatra. The results have not been included in these 
accounts; to do so would not materially alter them.  
 
The RSPB holds a 33% interest in Gola Rainforest 
Conservation LG, a company limited by guarantee 
established to trade carbon credits in order to fund the 
Gola Rainforest National Park. The results have not been 
included in these accounts; to do so would not materially 
alter them. 
 
The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds is a 
registered charity and as such is potentially exempt from 
taxation on its income and gains to the extent that they 
are applied to its charitable purposes. There was no tax 
charge during the year. The subsidiaries donate, under 
Gift Aid, all taxable profits to the Charity each year. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty  

In the application of the Charity’s accounting policies, 
Trustees are required to make judgements, estimates, 
and assumptions about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period to which they relate. 
 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are related to pension liability. The 
Charity recognises its liability to its defined benefit 
pension scheme which involves a number of estimations 
as disclosed in note 24. 

Funds 

Unrestricted funds: 
General funds are available for use at the discretion of 
the trustees in furtherance of the objectives of the 
Charity and which have not been designated for other 
purposes. 
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Designated funds are unrestricted funds, which have 
been applied or reserved by the trustees for a specific 
purpose. The aim and use of each designated fund is set 
out in the notes to the accounts.  
 

 
Restricted funds: 
Restricted funds are those which are to be used in 
accordance with specific restrictions of the donors or 
which have been raised by the Charity for particular 
purposes. The purpose for which restricted funds are 
held is analysed in the notes to the accounts.  
 
Endowment funds: 
Endowment funds are restricted funds that are held for 
the benefit of the Charity as a capital fund. Permanent 
endowments require the capital to be maintained and 
only the income and part of capital growth can be 
utilised. With expendable endowments, the capital may 
also be utilised. The purpose for which endowment 
funds are held is analysed in the notes to the accounts. 

Capital expenditure 

Purchased assets, individually exceeding £2,500 at cost, 
are included on the balance sheet at historic cost less 
depreciation and any impairment in accordance with 
FRS102 ’Property, Plant and Equipment’. Certain types 
of land are stated at their estimated fair value (note 11). 
Donated assets are included at market value as 
determined by the trustees. Expenditure on fixed assets 
is capitalised in the year of acquisition and depreciation 
is charged annually. 

Depreciation 

Nature reserves, either owned as freehold land or held 
as leasehold land where the lease is held in perpetuity, 
are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are 
not depreciated. Other fixed assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their anticipated useful lives as 
follows: 
 
Freehold buildings    50 years 
Leasehold land and    Period of lease or 50 years 
  buildings with a fixed term     whichever is shorter 
Other fixed assets    4 years 

Investments 

The investments in the subsidiary undertakings are 
stated at cost less provision for impairment. All other 
investments are stated at fair value with gains and 
losses being recognised within income and expenditure. 
Properties included in investments are those assigned 
under legacy bequests, awaiting disposal at a future 
date, and are stated at their fair value at the balance 
sheet date. The SOFA includes the net gains and losses 
arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the 
year.  

Investment cash is held for investment purposes 
only. It is the intention of the trustees that fixed asset 
investments will not be drawn upon within the 
following year. 

Stocks 

Stocks, which include livestock and products for resale, 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Financial Instruments  

The RSPB has financial assets and financial liabilities of 
a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Financial assets held at amortised cost comprise cash at 
bank and in hand, together with trade and other debtors. 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade 
and other creditors.  

Incoming resources  

Incoming resources are included in the SOFA when the 
RSPB is entitled to the income, the receipt is probable 
and the amount can be quantified with reasonable 
accuracy. If these conditions are not met then the 
income is deferred. The following specific policies apply 
to categories of income: 
i) Membership income is treated as a donation and is 

accounted for when received. 
ii) Legacies are accounted for based on settlement of 

the estate or receipt of payment, whichever is earlier.  
iii) Grants received in advance of the associated work 

being carried out are deferred only when the donor 
has imposed preconditions on the expenditure of 
resources (see Note 16). 

iv) Donated assets are recognised at the value of the gift 
to the Charity which is the amount the Charity would 
have been willing to pay to obtain services or 
facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open 
market. They are included in the SOFA and balance 
sheet as appropriate. 

Resources expended 

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and 
has been classified under headings that aggregate all 
costs related to that category. Costs incurred that relate to 
multiple purposes are analysed and allocated to the 
appropriate categories in line with the joint cost allocation 
principles in the Charities SORP (FRS102). 
 
i) Costs of generating voluntary income do not include 

the costs of disseminating information in support of 
the charitable activities. 

ii) Commercial trading includes the cost of goods sold in 
mail order, retail and catering activities. 

iii) Costs of managing RSPB nature reserves are those 
incurred in managing the network of nature reserves 
including land management, habitat restoration and 
visitor facilities. 

iv) Research, policy and advisory includes the costs 
associated with scientific research and our advocacy 
work to influence public policy to benefit nature. 

v) Education and inspiring support includes the costs of 
activities to inspire children, young people and 
families to connect with nature and to enable 
supporters to use their voice most effectively to 
benefit nature conservation. 

vi) Supporter care includes the costs of providing 
information to our members and supporters including 
a quarterly magazine providing information on the 
work being done by the RSPB and its partners.    

vii) Support costs have been allocated to the headings in 
the SOFA on the basis of salary percentage. This 
applies to office facilities and accommodation, 
finance, information technology, human resources, 
management and governance. 
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viii) Grants are awarded to other organisations, at 
trustees’ discretion, on a project basis where such 
projects meet the RSPB’s charitable objectives and 
contribute towards the Strategic outcomes. In making 
awards, consideration is given to the most effective 
and efficient use of resources. 

Pensions 

For the defined benefit scheme, the amounts charged 
in resources expended are the current service costs 
and gains and losses on settlements and curtailments. 
They are included as part of staff costs. Past service 
costs are recognised immediately in the Statement of 
Financial Activities if the benefits have vested. If the 
benefits have not vested immediately, the costs are 
recognised over the period until vesting occurs. The 
interest cost and interest income on assets are shown 
as a net amount of other finance costs or credits 
adjacent to interest. Re-measurements are recognised 
immediately in Other recognised gains and losses. 
 
Defined benefit schemes are funded, with the assets 
of the scheme held separately from those of the group, 
in separate trustee administered funds. Pension 
scheme assets are measured at fair value and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit method and discounted at a rate 
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality 
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the 
scheme liabilities. The resulting defined benefit asset 
or liability is presented separately after other net 
assets on the face of the balance sheet. Full actuarial 
valuations are obtained triennially. 
 
In the view of the trustees, no assumptions concerning 
the future or estimation uncertainty affecting assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date are likely to 
result in a material adjustment to their carrying 
amounts in the next financial year. 

 

Redundancy and settlement payments  

Redundancy and settlement payments are recognised 
at the leaving date of the member of staff and 
measured at the best estimate of expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 

Operating leases 

Operating lease rentals are charged and credited to 
the SOFA on a straight-line basis over the length of 
the lease. 

Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at 
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Balances 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
rate of exchange prevailing at the year-end, in 
accordance with FRS102. Any gains or losses arising 
on translations are reported as part of the transaction 
within the SOFA and are not material; they are 
therefore not disclosed separately. 

Forward contracts 

Forward contracts are measured at fair value on the 
date the contract is entered into and subsequently 
measured at fair value through the SOFA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RSPB Trustees’ Report and Accounts 2016-17 Notes to the accounts 

24        rspb.org.uk 

3 Membership subscriptions and donations 

 2017) 
£’000( 

2016) 
£’000( 

 

    
Membership subscriptions 43,244( 41,167(  
Donations 8,121( 6,555(  
 ______) ______)  
 51,365) 47,722)  
 
 
Donations include donated assets of £1,100,000.  

______) ______)  

4 Legacies 

The estimated value of legacies notified but neither received nor included in income is £17,752,000 (2016: 
£18,845,000). 

5 Grants, corporates and trusts 

 2017) 
£’000( 

2016) 
£’000( 

 

    
Grants  17,558( 20,754(  
Corporates 2,308( 2,088(  
Trusts 946( 964(  
 ______) ______)  
 20,812( 23,806(  
 ______) ______) 

) 
 

Corporates include donated services of £303,890.  
 
 

 
Major grants received during the year include the following: 

 
2017( 

£’000( 

 
2016( 
£’000( 

UK    
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs*  6,065) 6,144) 
Scottish Government* 
Landfill Communities Fund 
Scottish Natural Heritage* 

           Natural Resources Wales* 

1,085) 
971) 

              814) 
            772) 

1,150) 
    2,968) 

       1,619) 
          719) 

Environment Agency*             582)          109) 
Department of Environment, Northern Ireland*             247)          189) 

 Natural England*             233)          233) 
Forestry Commission*             86)          178) 

 ______) ______) 
 
 

10,855( 13,309( 

International 
European Union 
 

 
1,871( 
 

 
2,024( 

 
   
National Lottery: Heritage Lottery Fund and Big Lottery Fund 3,064( 3,647( 
   
Local councils and other** 1,768( 1,774( 
 ______) ______) 
 17,558( 20,754( 
 ______) ______) 

* Government grants used to fund conservation projects and recognised in the accounts. 

** Included within local councils and other are £370,545 of government grants used to fund conservation projects 
and recognised in the accounts.   
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5 Grants, corporates and trusts (continued) 

The Coastal Communities Fund Grant provided funding of £101,166 towards projects to enhance and 
develop the visitor facilities and visitor experience at our reserves: South Stack - ‘South Stack Cliffs 
Reserve Visitor Improvements’ (£89,359), Bempton Cliffs - ‘Seabird Discovery Centre’ (£8,877) and Loch 
Strathbeg (£2,929). This income has been included within our restricted funds. All funds received were 
spent in the year. 
 

 
 
 
Grants received were for the following purposes: 

 
 

2017) 
£’000( 

 
 

2016) 
£’000( 

   
Research, policy and advisory  3,242) 4,817) 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 14,160) 13,862) 
Education and inspiring support 77) 195) 

 ______) ______) 
 17,479) 18,874) 

Acquisition of nature reserves 79) 1,880) 
 ______) ______) 
 17,558) 20,754) 
 
 

______) ______) 

 
 
 

6 Investment income and interest 

 2017) 
£’000) 

2016 
£’000 

Income received from:  ( 
Interest on cash 53(        92 
Listed Stock Exchange investments 1121(   117 
Property -(    3 
 _______) ______ 
 174( 212 
 _______) ______ 

Other income:   
Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 108) 1,024 
 _______) ______ 

 
Included above is investment income of £11,322 (2016: £12,040), which relates to the Hanson 
Environment Fund. This treatment has been agreed with the donor and the fund is held as an expendable 
endowment. 
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7 Total expenditure 

 

 
 
Cost of raising funds:  

 
Direct( 
costs( 
£’000( 

 
Support( 

costs( 
£’000( 

2017( 
Total( 

 
£’000( 

2016( 
Total( 

 
£’000) 

 

Costs of raising voluntary income:    ( 
Membership subscriptions and donations 9,765( 709( 10,474) 12,337) 
Legacies 961( 71) 1,032) 922) 
Grants, corporates and trusts 3,753( 424( 4,177) 3,288) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total cost of raising voluntary income 14,479( 1,204( 15,683( 16,547) 

     
Commercial trading 19,911( 425( 20,336) 20,086) 

     
Investment management costs 143( -( 143) 107) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total cost of raising funds 34,533( 1,629(      36,162 36,740) 
     
Charitable activities:  (  

Research, policy and advisory  33,803( 2,906( 36,709) 37,401( 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 35,106) 1,346( 36,452( 34,082( 
Education and inspiring support 20,180( 1,134( 21,314( 21,466( 
Supporter care 4,383( 71( 4,454( 4,375( 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
 93,472( 5,457( 98,929( 97,324) 
     
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total  128,005) 7,086) 135,091( 134,064( 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
 

 
Research, policy and advisory includes grant payments amounting to £5,364,683 with support costs of 
£278,964 (2016: £5,764,402; £335,601). Grants were awarded to 180 (2016: 128) organisations; no grants 
were made to individuals. A full list is available on www.rspb.org.uk. 

 Future commitments: 

Future commitments relating to charitable work carried out by other organisations on behalf of the RSPB, 
amount to £464,507 (2016: £556,593). These represent contracts signed before 1 April 2017 for payments in 
future years. 
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8 Support costs 

 Premises) 
 

£’000) 

Finance( 
& IT( 

£’000( 

Human) 
resources) 

£’000) 

Mgmnt & 
other 
£’000 

Gover-
nance 
£’000 

     

2017( 
Total( 
£’000( 

2016( 
Total( 
£’000( 

 

    ( 
Generating incoming resources 

 
372( 583( 366( 204( 104) 1,629( 1,485) 

Charitable expenditure:        
Research, policy and advisory 664( 1,043( 651( 363( 185) 2,906) 3,012( 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 307) 486) 301) 169( 83) 1,346) 1,334) 
Education and inspiring support 259( 407( 254( 141( 73) 1,134( 1,104( 
Supporter care 16( 25( 16(           9 5) 71( 64( 
 ______) ______

) 
______) _____) _____

) 
______) _____) 

Total Total Charitable Expenditure 1,246( 1,961( 1,222( 682( 346) 5,457) 5,514) 
 ______) ______

) 
______) _____) _____

) 
______) _____) 

Total support costs 1,618( 2,544( 1,588( 886( 450) 7,086( 6,999) 
 ______( ______( ______( _____) _____ ______( ______( 

 
 
Support costs are included in the expenditure reported in the Consolidated statement of financial activities 
and have been allocated on the basis of salary percentage. The cost allocation includes an element of 
judgement and the RSPB has had to consider the cost benefit of detailed calculations and record keeping. 
 
Governance costs include audit, legal advice for trustees and the costs associated with constitutional and 
statutory requirements, such as trustees’ meetings. 
 

9 Audit fees 

 

The total audit fees were: 2017( 
£’000( 

2016( 
£’000( 

Statutory audit:  ( 
Charity 42( 45) 
RSPB Sales Limited 29( 29) 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited 3( 3) 
Farming For Nature 3( 3( 

 ______) 
 

______) 

 8877) 80) 
 ______) ______) 
   
Non-audit services 10) -) 
 ______) ______) 
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10 Staff costs 

The average number of employees during the year was 2,409 (2016: 2,305). 
 
Staff numbers by activity: 2017( 

No.) 
2016( 
  No. 

Generating incoming resources 
 

685) 
 

644) 
 

Managing RSPB nature reserves 661( 626) 
Research, policy and advisory  703) 691) 
Education and inspiring support 311) 295) 
Supporter care 49) 49) 

 _______) _______( 

 2,409) 2,305) 
 _______) _______( 

 
The nature of work undertaken by individual staff traverses the above categories; therefore, the allocation 
includes an element of judgement. 

 2017( 
£’000( 

2016( 
£’000( 

  ( 
Remuneration 50,954) 48,101) 
National Insurance 4,470) 3,778) 
Pension contributions 6,199) 6,135) 

 _______) _______( 

 61,623) 58,014) 
 _______( _______( 

 
The key management personnel of the charity comprise the Trustees and the Directors, including the Chief 
Executive, as detailed on page 2.  
 
The total salary of all higher paid employees earning in excess of £60,000, including Directors, are shown in 
bands of £10,000 below: 
 2017 

No. 
                2016 

  No. 
 
£60,001 – £70,000 

 
10 

 
8 

£70,001 – £80,000 
£80,001 – £90,000 

1 
- 

1 
5 

£90,001 – £100,000 
£100,001 – £110,000 
£110,001 – £120,000 
£120,001 – £130,000 
 

4 
2 
- 
1 

- 
1 
1 
2 

 _______ _______ 
 18 18 
 _______ _______ 

 
Under the RSPB’s pension scheme, which is open to all eligible staff, benefits are accruing for 18 (2016: 18) 
higher paid employees including Directors. There are no enhanced pension benefits for any employees or 
Directors. No other benefits were paid during the year.  Pension contributions are made in line with the 
payment schedule recommended by the scheme actuary at the last triennial valuation (see Note 24). The 
highest amount of pension contributions paid to the scheme on behalf of one individual during the year was 
£14,076 (2016: £18,177). 
 
During the year redundancy and settlement payments of £223,311 (2016: £278,748) were made to employees. 
The amount outstanding at 31 March 2017 in respect of those payments was £11,298 (2016: £nil). 
 
The total employee benefits (including Pension contributions) of the 8 (2016: 8) Directors were £993,287 
(2016: £959,469) of which, £145,683 (2016: £155,215) was for the Chief Executive. The total travelling, 
accommodation and subsistence expenses reimbursed to them was £44,045 (2016: £50,491). 
  
The Trustees do not receive any employee benefits. The total reimbursement of travelling, accommodation 
and subsistence expenses incurred by 14 (2016: 17) trustees on Council business amounted to £21,289 
(2016: £38,194).  
 
Indemnity insurance premiums paid by the RSPB amounted to £2,972 (2016: £3,049). 
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11 Tangible fixed assets – charity and consolidated 

 

 Nature reserves Other tangible assets Total) 
 Freehold 

)land 
 

£’000( 

Leasehold 
)land 

 
£’000( 

Buildings) 
 
 

£’000( 

Other) 
properties) 

 
£’000( 

Motor 
vehicles

) 
£’000( 

Equipment,) 
fixtures and) 

fittings) 
£’000( 

 
 
 

£’000( 
Cost ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 1 April 2016 159,183) 1,694) 49,273) 3,662) 4,320) 15,938) 234,070) 
Additions 1,709) 9) 2,879) -) 541) 977) 6,115) 
Disposals (353) -) -) -) (343) (171) (867) 
 
At 31 March 2017 

_______ 
160,539) 

______) 
1,703) 

______( 
52,152) 

______) 
3,662) 

______) 
4,518( 

______( 
16,744) 

_______( 
239,318) 

 _______( ______) ______( ______) ______( ______( _______( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
Depreciation ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 1 April 2016 -) 463) 15,365) 1,968) 3,388) 14,235) 35,419( 
Charge for the year -) 17) 2,271) )     85) 591) 1,035) 3,999( 
Disposals -( -() -) -) (321) (137) (458) 
 _______( ______) ______( ______) ______( ______)  ______( 
At 31 March 2017 -( 480) 17,636) 2,053) 3,658) 15,133) (   38,960) 
 _______( ______) ______( ______)  ______( ______) ______) 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
Net book amount: (      ( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 31 March 2017 160,539) 1,223) 34,516) 1,609) 860) 1,611) 200,358( 
 _______( ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) _______( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 31 March 2016 159,183) 1,231) 33,908) 1,694) 932) 1,703) 198,651( 
 _______( ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) _______( 

 
 
Net book amount: 

 

 
2017 ) 

£’000 ( 

 
2016) 
£’000) 

Nature reserves: ( ( 
Freehold land 160,539 )  159,183) 
Leasehold land 1,223 ) 1,231) 
Buildings 34,516 ) 33,908) 

 _______ ) _______) 

 196,278 ( 194,322) 
Other tangible assets:   

Other properties 1,609 ( 1,694) 
Motor vehicles 860 ( 932) 
Equipment, fixtures and fittings 1,611 ( 1,703) 

 _______)) _______) 
 4,080 ) 4,329) 
 _______ ) _______) 
 200,358 ) 198,651) 
                       _______)    _______) 

   
The wholly owned subsidiary March Farmers (Washland) Limited holds Leasehold land of £550,000 (2016: 
£550,000); the leases for this land are held in perpetuity and no depreciation arises. 
 

In 2013, the RSPB entered into a Contingent Asset Agreement with the RSPB Pension Scheme. Under this 
agreement, specified land and buildings, with a fair value of c£57,000,000, would pass to the Pension Scheme in the 
unlikely event of the RSPB being unable to meet its obligations to the Scheme. The land selected is unencumbered 
by any legal charges or funding restrictions. 
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 12 Investments – charity and consolidated 

Investments at fair value: 2017( 2016( 
 )£’000( £’000( 
   
Investment cash 3,346( 2,529) 
   
Equities, bonds and other stocks:   

Equities  14,165( 13,164( 
Corporate bonds  2,196( 2,298( 
Government bonds  2,3,013( 3,235( 
Listed Stock Exchange investments 5( 5( 

 _______( _______( 
 19,379( 18,702) 
  

) 
 

Investment properties within the UK 1,992( 496( 
 _______( _______( 
 24,717) 21,727) 
 _______) _______) 

 
Equities, Corporate bonds and Government bonds are held in unit trusts. 
 
Investment properties were revalued at 31 March, based on their fair value on that date. The revaluation 
was carried out internally by a qualified professional land surveyor. The amount includes property 
assigned under legacy bequests and donated property. 
 
 

 

Movement during the year: 2017( 2016( 
 )£’000( £’000( 
   

Fair value at 1 April  
 

21,727)      32,772 

Disposals (1,565) --(174) 
Fees (80) (87) 
Additions  
Dividends reinvested 
Net gain on revaluation at 31 March  

1,140) 
83) 

2,595) 

244( 
42( 

(471( 
Movement in investment cash 817) (11,541) 

 _______( _______( 
Fair value at 31 March 24,717) 21,727) 
 _______) _______) 
   
Historical cost as at 31 March  15,115) 15,004) 
 _______) _______) 

 
The Charity investments in its wholly owned subsidiaries are held at cost and represent the aggregate amount of 
the subsidiaries’ assets, liabilities and funds. The subsidiary investments are: 
 

 2017( 2016( 
 
 

)£’000( £’000( 

RSPB Sales Limited 3,250) 3,250( 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited 551) 551( 

 _______) 
 

 (_______) 

 3,801) 3,801( 
 _______) _______) 
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13 Debtors – charity and consolidated 

 2017) 
Consolidated) 

total)  
£’000) 

2016( 
Consolidated) 

(total) 
£’000( 

2017) 
Charity)  

 
£’000) 

2016)))
Charity)))

)) 
£’000) 

     
Trade debtors 3,735( 4,077( 2,849) 2,663) 
Other debtors 3,537( 3,668) 3,476( 3,490) 
Legacies 1,432( 2,862) 1,432( 2,862) 
Prepayments and accrued income 9,687( 9,855) 9,483( 9,432) 
Amounts due from subsidiaries -( -) 5,156( 4,855) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
 18,391( 20,462( 22,396( 23,302) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 

14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year – charity and consolidated 

 

 2017) 
Consolidated) 

total)  
£’000) 

2016( 
Consolidated) 

(total) 
£’000( 

2017)) 
Charity)) 

 
£’000)) 

2016)))
 Charity)))

     £’000 

 Trade creditors 4,292( 3,620))) 3,918)( 3,239) )
Other creditors 366( 648) 365 646) 
Deferred income (see Note 16) 1,733( 1,375) 1,412 1,075) 
Accruals 3,841( 5,305) 3,471 4,693( 
Amounts owed to subsidiaries                           -) -) 14 -) 

 _______) _______) _______ _______) 
 10,232( 10,948) 9,180 9,653( 
 _______) _______) _______ _______) 

     
 
Other creditors include a provision of £37,219 as a result of a loss on revaluation of forward exchange contracts at 
their fair value at 31 March 2017. 
 
At the end of the year, six forward exchange contracts with a combined sales value of €1,305,000 were 
outstanding. Each contract is for up to three years in duration, at Euro/GBP rates between 1.3178 and 1.1477.  
 
Contracts to sell Euro are taken out in order to hedge forward currency exposure on future income.  
 

 

15 Commitments 

Commitments for capital expenditure at 31 March 2017 not provided for in the accounts were £1,922,000 (2016: 
£1,464,647). 
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16        Deferred income – charity and consolidated 

Movement during the year: 2017) 2016) 
 £’000) £’000) 
Creditors amounts falling due in more than one year:   

Balance at 1 April 2016 840) 868) 
Amount released to income -) (14) 
Amounts due within one year (14) (14) 

 ______) ________) 
Balance at 31 March 2017 826) 840) 

   
Creditors amounts falling due within one year:   

Balance at 1 April 2016 1,375) 4,917) 
Amount released to income (1,262) (4,917) 
Amount deferred in the year 
Amounts transferred from creditors due in more than one year 

1,606) 
14) 

1,361) 
 14) 

 ______) ________) 
Balance at 31 March 2017  1,733) 1,375) 

 ______) ________) 
Deferred income: Balance at 31 March 2017 2,559) 2,215) 

 ______) ________) 

 
Deferred income includes lease premiums of £840,000 (2016: £854,000) received and amortised over the life of the 
leases. Income of £1,606,000 (2016: £1,361,000), was deferred in the year; this amount comprised grants of 
£1,285,000 (2016: £1,033,000) and commercial trading of £321,000 (2016: £328,000). 

17 Operating leases – commitments and contracted income 

 
Commitments: 
Properties and equipment are leased by the RSPB for defined periods. The full cost of these over the lease 
period is shown below: 

   2017) 2016) 
 Land and) 

buildings( 
 Other) Total) Total( 

 £’000( £’000)  £’000) £’000( 
     

Less than 1 year 548) 10) 558) 433) 
2-5 years 2,570) 93( 2,663) 1,951) 
Over 5 years 12,421) -) 12,421) 9,762) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 15,539) 103) 15,642) 112,146) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
Lease payments of £2,184,122 (2016: £1,966,621) were charged to the Consolidated statement of financial 
Activities during the year. 
 
Contracted income: 

   2017) 2016) 
   ( Total) Total( 

      ( £’000) £’000))) 
     

Less than 1 year   188) 225) 
2-5 years   825) 360) 
Over 5 years   2,154) 2,828) 

   _______) _______) 

   3,167) 3,413) 
   _______))) _______) 

 
Lease income of £853,237 (2016: £3,636,550) was credited to the Consolidated statement of financial activities 
during the year. All lease income relates to land and buildings. 
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18 Contingent liabilities 

 
The trustees have given indemnities to executors under the standard terms for legacies received; they believe the 

chance of significant claims arising as a result of these to be negligible. 

19 Financial instruments 
 Fair value Amortised) 

cost) 
Total financial) 

instruments) 
Non financial  
Instruments 

2017) 
Total( 

 £’000 £’000) £’000) £’000 £’000( 
Assets 
 Tangible assets 

 
-) 

 
-) 

 
-) 

 
200,358 

 
200,358) 

 Investments 24,717 -) 24,717) - 24,717) 
 Stock - -)  -)  3,922 3,922) 
 Debtors  
 Cash at bank and in hand 
 

- 
- 

17,187) 
11,058) 

17,187) 
11,058) 

1,204  
- 

18,391) 
11,058) 

Liabilities      
Creditors due within one year 
Creditors due after one year 

- 
- 

_______ 

(8,499) 
-) 

______) 

(8,499) 
-) 

______) 

(1,733) 
(826) 

_______ 

(10,232) 
(826) 

_______) 

 24,717 
_______ 

 

  19,746) 
______) 

          44,463 
______) 

          202,925 
_______ 

247,388) 
_______)
_______-

___________
_______ 

      
The income, expenditure and net gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial 
activities are shown below: 
 

 
 
   Fair value 

 
Amortised) 

cost) 
2017) 
Total) 

   £’000) £’000) £’000) 
      
Investment income 
Investment management costs 

  121) 
(143) 

53) 
-) 

174) 
(143) 

Foreign exchange loss               -) (33)          (33) 
Net gains on investments   6,532) 

______( 
-) 

      _______ 
    6,532 
_______ 

   6,510) 
              ______ 

20) 
       _______ 

 6,530) 
______) 
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20 Statement of funds – charity and consolidated 

The purpose for which funds are held can be analysed as follows: 
 

Consolidated Total)  
Funds) 
1 April) 

2016) 
£’000( 

Incoming
) 
 
 

£’000( 

Outgoing
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Other) 
recognised) 

gains / 
(losses)) 

£’000( 

Transfers
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Total) 
funds) 

31 March) 
2017) 

£’000( 
Unrestricted funds:       

General funds 35,552( 102,334) (107,113) 6,532)  (508) 36,797 
Designated land fund 61,516) -( -) -) 508) 62,024) 
Pension Liability (59,012) 1,076) -) (32,378) -) (90,314) 
 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total unrestricted funds 38,056( 103,410) (107,113) (25,846) -) 8,507) 

       
Restricted funds:       

Nature reserves 135,880( 4,748) - -) -) 140,628) 
Other tangible assets 414( 391) (315) -) -) 490) 
Managing RSPB nature 

reserves 
 

4,888(    
 

14,582) 
 

(16,289) 
 

-) 
 

-) 
 

3,181) 
Research, policy and 

advisory  
Education and inspiring 

support 

 
2,823( 

 ( 
312) 

 
9,506) 

 
1,614) 

 
(9,785) 

 
(1,589) 

 
-) 

 
-) 

 
-) 

 
-) 

 
2,544) 

 
337) 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total restricted funds 144,317( 30,841) (27,978) -) -) 147,180) 

       
Endowment funds 1,459( (72) -) -) -) 1,387) 
 _______) _______) _______ _______) _______)  _______ 

Total funds 183,832( 134,179) (135,091) (25,846) -( 157,074) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
 
 

 
Subsidiaries 

Farming for Nature)) 
2017)) 

£’000)) 
 

March Farmers) 
(Washland) Ltd 2017) 

£’000) 

RSPB Sales Ltd) 
2017) 

£’000) 

Incoming 423)) 161) 29,152) 
Outgoing (231)) (110) (23,661) 
  _______) _______) _______) 
Profit 192)) 51) 5,491) 
 _______) _______) _______) 
    
Net (liabilities) / assets at 31 

March 2017 
 

(6)) 
_______ 

551) 
_______ 

 3,250) 
_______)         

 
All profits are paid to the RSPB under Gift Aid.  
 

Charity only results: 2017) 
 £’000) 
  
Incoming  110,149) 
Outgoing (111,088)             
Other recognised gains (25,846) 
 ________ 
Net movement in funds (26,785) 
 ________ 
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20  Statement of funds – charity and consolidated (continued) 
The Charity holds a 33% joint venture interest in Yayasan Konservasi Ekosistem Hutan, a non-profit organisation 
registered in Indonesia and established to facilitate the acquisition and management of the Harapan Rainforest, 
Sumatra. Based on the latest financial statements available for the year ending 31 December 2016, the Charity's 
share of the net assets, income and surplus / (deficit)   were £605,314, £334,086, and (£12,077) respectively 
(December 2015: £519,314 £447,756, and £60,459). We are not aware of any transactions that would significantly 
alter these figures for the year ending 31 March 2017.  
 
The results have not been consolidated into the core financial statements; to do so would not materially alter them. 
 
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Charity paid £183,000 (2016: £380,000) to Yayasan Konservasi 
Ekosistem Hutan.  
 
Unrestricted funds include free and general funds that are not designated for particular purposes. 
 
Designated funds comprise the Land Fund which represents land and buildings purchased using unrestricted funds 
including the investment in March Farmers (Washland) Limited. 
 
Restricted funds comprise: 

• The Nature reserves fund represents the historic cost of nature reserves acquired using restricted funds and a 
further £6,374,000 (2016: £3,074,000) held for future acquisitions. 

• The other funds held for charitable objectives include grants received of £1,671,917 (2016: £1,429,076) in 
advance of the associated work being carried out.  

 
Endowment funds comprise the following expendable and permanent endowments: 

• The Hanson Environment Fund granted an endowment of £1,000,000 in 2002 for the creation and 
management of Needingworth wetland nature reserve. Investment income, net of fees, for this endowment is 
currently accruing to the fund. During the year, £83,886 (2016: £83,666) was expended on the nature reserve. 
It is RSPB’s intention to fully spend the total funds on the project on compliant Landfill Communities Fund 
works as soon as practicably possible – both the capital and the interest. 

21 Analysis of net assets between funds 

The trustees consider that sufficient resources are held in a suitable form to enable them to be applied in 
accordance with any restrictions imposed, as set out below: 
 

 
Unrestricted funds 

Restricted) 
funds) 

Endowment) 
funds) 

Total) 
funds) 

 General( Designated) ) ) 31 March) 
2017) 

 £’000( £’000( £’000) £’000) £’000) 
Asset type:       

Nature reserves              -         62,024 134,254) -) 196,278) 
Other tangible assets 3,590) -) 490) -) 4,080) 
Investments 18,811) -) 4,519) 1,387) 24,717) 
Current assets 22,665) -) 10,706) -) 33,371) 
Current liabilities (7,443) -) (2,789) -) (10,232) 
Long term liabilities (826) -) -) -) (826) 

 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net assets excluding pension liability 36,797) 62,024) 147,180) 1,387)    247,388 
      

Pension liability (90,314) -) -) -) (90,314) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net (liabilities)/assets (53,517) 62,024) 147,180) 1,387) 157,074 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
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21  Analysis of net assets between funds (continued) 

Free reserves which are available to be applied at the discretion of the trustees are held as investments or working 
capital: 

 

 

  

22 Connected charities and related party transactions 

The RSPB is one of the global partners in BirdLife International (registered charity number 1042125), an umbrella 
organisation for entities with similar objectives throughout the world.  
 
Further information about this organisation can be obtained by writing to BirdLife International at The David 
Attenborough Building, Pembroke Street, Cambridge, CB2 3QZ. 
 
During the year, donations of £1,241 were received from Trustees and persons related to them. 
 

 Transactions with subsidiaries during the year: 
 

Subsidiaries 
 
 
 
Balance at 1 April 2016  

 Farming for  
Nature 

   £’000))
 

  322  

March Farmers)) 
(Washland) Ltd)))                            

£’000)) 
   

144) 

RSPB Sales Ltd)) 
)) 

£’000)) 
 

4,389) 
    
Gift aid paid (88) (32)) (5,882)) 
Gift aid due 
Repayments  
 

192) 
(400) 

51)) 
(1,100)) 

              5,491)) 
X(738)) 

Net expenditure paid on behalf of subsidiaries  
 

142) 
_____) 

923)) 
_____)) 

      1,728)) 
_____) 

Balance at 31 March 2017 168) (14)) 4,988)) 
 _____) _____))  _____)) 

23 Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities 

  2017))( 
£’000))( 

        2016))( 
       £’000))) 

)( 
 Net Income for year:  5,620)))      3,401))) 
 Adjustments for:   
     Depreciation on fixed assets 3,999)))         4,083))) 
     Gains on investments ((6,532))) ((471))) 
     Interest and dividends received (156))) (212))) 
     Profit on sale of tangible assets 

    Donated investment property 
(109))) 

     (1,100)  
      (1,024))) 
              -))) 

     Increase in stocks (714))) (112))) 
     Decrease / (Increase) in debtors   2,071))) (2,099))) 
     Decrease in creditors (729))) (5,424))) 
  _______)) _______)) 
  2,350))) (1,858))) 
    
 Movement in pension scheme (1,076))) 179()) 
  _______)) _______)) 
 Net cash inflow provided by / (used in) operating activities  1,274))) (1,679))) 
  _______)) _______)) 

 Unrestricted funds Restricted Endowment) Total 
 
 
 
Net assets excluding pension liability 

     General 
£’000) 

 
36,797) 

  Designated 
£’000 

 
62,024) 

funds) 
£’000) 

 
147,180) 

funds) 
£’000) 

 
1,387) 

 funds 
£’000 

 
247,388 

      
Less: Operating assets:      

      Nature reserves -) (62,024) (134,254) -)    (196,278) 
      Other tangible assets (3,590) -) (490) -)        (4,080) 

      ______)     ______)     ______        _____) ______ 
Available reserves 33,207) -) 12,436) 1,387) 47,030 

 
Less: Restricted and endowment 
 
Free reserves 

 
-) 

______) 
33,207) 

 
-) 

______) 
-) 

 
(12,436) 
______) 

-) 

 
(1,387) 
_____) 

-) 

 
13,823 

______ 
33,207 

 ______) ______) ______) _____) ______ 
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24 Pensions 

The RSPB operates a defined benefit scheme for the benefit of eligible employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the RSPB, being invested by professional fund managers, in accordance with 
guidelines issued by the Trustees of the pension fund. 
 
A full actuarial valuation is undertaken by the Pension Trustees and their advisers every three years. The last 
valuation was carried out as at 1 April 2015. As part of the valuation the Society’s contributions to the Scheme are 
agreed by the Trustees, certified by the Scheme Actuary and recorded in a Schedule of Contributions. The current 
Schedule of Contributions is dated 30 June 2016 
 
The RSPB runs a Salary Sacrifice Scheme where members can opt to reduce their salaries by the amount of their 
pension contribution and in return the RSPB will pay their contribution to the Pension Fund. Contribution rates are: 
7% of pensionable salary for members of the Final Salary Section and 6% for members of the Cash Balance 
Section.  
 
On the 31 March 2017, the defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual and all staff were transferred to a 
defined contribution scheme on the 1 April 2017. 
 

 
Amounts recognised in the Balance sheet: 

 2017) 
£’000( 

2016) 
£’000( 

   
Defined benefit obligations (281,440))) (218,519) 
Fair value of scheme assets (191,126) 159,507) 
 _______) _______( 
Net defined benefit liability  (90,314) (59,012) 
 _______) _______( 

 
Changes in the present value of the defined obligation: 

 2017)))))) 
£’000)))))( 

2016) 
£’000( 

   
 

Defined benefit obligation at start of year 218,519)))))) 240,114) 
Current service cost 
Scheme changes 

                    6,199)))))) 
270)))))) 

6,135) 
-) 

Interest expense 7,752)))))) 8,100) 
Member contributions 116)))))) 82) 
Remeasurements 54,943))))))    (32,167) 
Benefits paid (6,359)))))) (3,745) 
 _______)))))( _______( 
Defined benefit obligation at end of year 281,440)))))) 218,519) 
 _______)))))( _______( 

   
   

Changes in scheme assets: 
 2017)) 

£’000)( 
2016) 
£’000( 

   
Fair value of scheme assets at start of year 159,507)( 153,592) 
Interest income 5,801)( 5,309) 
Remeasurements 22,565))  (4,479) 
Employer contribution 9,496)) 8,748) 
Member contributions 116)) 82) 
Benefits paid (6,359)) (3,745) 
 _______)( _______( 
Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 191,126)) 159,507) 
 _______)( _______( 
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24 Pensions (continued) 

 
Cost relating to defined benefit plans: 

 2017) 
£’000( 

2016) 
£’000( 

   
Current service cost 6,199) 6,135) 
Interest expense 7,752) 8,100) 
Interest income (5,801) (5,309) 
Loss on scheme changes 270) -) 

 _______( _______( 
Amount charged within Net income 
 

 8,420) 8,926) 

   
Total remeasurements   32,378) (27,688) 
 _______)  _______( 
Total amount charged / (credited) to Statement of financial activities 40,798) (18,762) 
                       

_______) 
_______( 

   
 
 
The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets: 

 2017( 2016) 
   
Equities, hedge funds and commodities 73.3% 72.6% 
Gilts and bonds (including Liability Driven Investments) 10.6% 16.7% 
Property 9.0% 9.4% 
Cash 7.0% 1.1% 
Insured policies 0.1% 0.2% 
 _______( _______( 

  
 

2017))) 
£’000))( 

 
 

2016) 
£’000( 

   
Actual return on the scheme assets during the year 25,167))) 830) 
 _______))( _______( 

 
Principal assumptions expressed as weighted averages: 

 2017))) 2016) 
   
Discount rate 2.60%)(   3.60% 
Rate of increase in salaries 2.97%() 2.67% 
Rate of increase of pensions in payment: 

Pre 1997 (pre 97 excess over Guaranteed Minimum Pension) 
Post 1997 / pre 2007 pension 
Post 2007 pension 

 
3.00%() 
3.00%() 
1.80%() 

 
3.00% 
3.00% 
1.70% 

Rate of increase of pensions in deferment 2.10%() 1.90% 

RPI Inflation 
CPI inflation 

3.10%() 
2.10%() 

2.90% 
1.90% 

 _______)( _______ 

 

Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables used to determine benefit obligations: 
 

 2017)) 2016) 
 Years)) Years) 

   
Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) – male 23.1)) 23.0) 
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) – male 24.9)) 24.8) 
Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) – female 25.2)) 25.1) 
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) – female 27.1)) 27.0) 
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25 Comparative statements 

Consolidated statement of financial activities  
for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS  

Note Unrestricted) 
funds) 
£’000 ) 

Restricted) 
       funds) 
       £’000) 

Endowment( 
funds( 
£’000( 

2016) 
Total( 
£’000( 

 

Voluntary income       
Membership subscriptions and donations 3 44,013) 3,709) -) 47,722(  
Grants, corporate and trusts 4 1,236) 22,654) (84) 23,806)  
Legacies 5 29,817) 4,245) -) 34,062)  
  _______)    _______)   _______ _______)  

Total voluntary income  75,066) 30,608) (84) 105,590(  
       
Commercial trading  22,543) -) -) 22,543)  
       
Investment income and interest 6 200) -) 12) 212(  
       

Charitable activities      
Fees and grants for services  1,698) -) -) 1,698(  
Land and farming income  2,146) 2,815) -) 4,961)  
Events and media sales  

 
 966) 

_______) 
-) 

   _______) 
-) 

_______) 
966( 

_______) 
 

Total income from charitable activities  4,810) 2,815) -) 7,625(  
       
Other income       

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 6 
 

1,024) 
_______) 

-) 
   _______) 

-) 
_______) 

1,024( 
_______) 

 

Total income  103,643) 33,423) (72) 136,994(  
  _______) )_______) )_______) )_______)  
EXPENDITURE ON:       
Cost of raising funds       

Costs of generating voluntary income  16,547) -) -) 16,547)  
Costs of commercial trading  20,086) -) -) 20,086)  
Investment management costs  

 
107) 

_______) 
-) 

_______ 
-) 

_______) 
107( 

________ 
 

Total cost of raising funds 36,740) -) -) 36,740(  
       

Net resources available for charitable activities 66,903) 33,423) (72) 100,254(  
       
Charitable Activities       

Research, policy and advisory  25,607) 11,794) -) 37,401)  
Managing RSPB nature reserves 17,582) 16,500) -) 34,082)  
Education and inspiring support  20,415) 1,051) -) 21,466)  
Supporter care  

 
4,375) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
4,375) 

_______) 
 

Total expenditure on charitable activities 67,979) 29,345) -) 97,324(  
      

       

Total expenditure 

 

Net gains on investments 

7 

 

104,719) 

 

471) 

_______) 

      29,345) 

 

                 -) 

______) 

-) 

 

-) 

_______) 

134,064) 

 

           471) 

  _______) 

 

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 
  

(605) 
_______) 

4,078) 
______) 

(72) 
_______) 

3,401) 
_______) 

 

Actuarial gains on pension scheme 
 

24               27,688) 
_______) 

            -                    
((((______) 

                 - 
_______) 

 

27,688 
_______ 

 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 
 
 

 27,083) 
_______ 

4,078) 
    ______) 

(72) 
_______ 

 31,089 
_______) 

 

Reconciliation of funds       

Total funds brought forward                10,973 
_______) 

140,239) 
______) 

1,531) 
_______) 

    152,743 
_______ 

 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  
 

38,056) 
_______) 

144,317( 
______) 

1,459) 
_______) 

183,832 
_______ 
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25 Comparative statements-continued 

Statement of funds – charity and consolidated for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Consolidated  Total) 
funds) 

1 April) 
2015) 

£’000( 

Incoming
) 
 
 

£’000( 

Outgoing
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Other) 
recognised) 

gains) 
 

£’000( 

Transfers
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Total) 
funds) 

31 March) 
2016) 

£’000( 
Unrestricted funds:       

General funds 36,578( 103,821) (104,719) 471)  (599) 35,552 
Designated land fund 60,917) - -) -) 599) 61,516) 
Pension Liability (86,522) (178) -) 27,688) -) (59,012) 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total unrestricted funds 10,973( 103,643) (104,719) 28,159) -) 38,056) 

       
Restricted funds:       

Nature reserves 131,727( 4,034) - -) 119) 135,880) 
Other tangible assets 231( 448) (265) -) - 414) 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 4,404(    16,848) (16,235) -) (129) 4,888) 
Research, policy and advisory  
Education and inspiring support 

3,821( 
56) 

10,786) 
1,307) 

(11,794) 
(1,051) 

-) 
-) 

10) 
-) 

2,823) 
312) 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total restricted funds 140,239( 33,423) (29,345) -) -) 144,317) 

       
Endowment funds 1,531( (72) -) -) -) 1,459) 
 _______) _______ _______ _______) _______) _______) 

Total funds 152,743( 136,994) (134,064) 28,159) -( 183,832) 
 _______) _______ _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
 
Analysis of net assets between funds for the year ended 31 March 2016 

 Unrestricted funds Restricted) Endowment) Total) funds) 
 General( Designated) funds) funds) 31 March) 

2016) 
 £’000( £’000( £’000) £’000) £’000) 
Asset type:       

Nature reserves              -         61,516 132,806) -) 194,322) 
Other tangible assets 3,915) -) 414) -) 4,329) 
Investments 15,871) -) 4,397) 1,459) 21,727) 
Current assets 25,990) -) 8,264) -) 34,254) 
Current liabilities (9,384) -) (1,564) -) (10,948) 
Long term liabilities (840) -) -) -) (840) 

 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net assets excluding pension liability 35,552) 61,516) 144,317) 1,459)    242,844) 
      

Pension liability (59,012) -) -) -) (59,012) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) 
Net (liabilities)/assets (23,460) 61,516) 144,317) 1,459) 183,832) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) 
      

 
 
Following a review of the classification of stock between the group entities £694,000 was transferred from the 
Charity to RSPB Sales Limited as shown below:  

 2016)) 
RSPB Sales Ltd) 

£’000)( 

2016)) 
Charity) 

£’000)( 

2016) 
Consolidated 

£’000( 
    

Stock as previously stated 2,515)) 694)) 3,209) 
Stock transferred to RSPB Sales Limited 694)) (694)) -) 
 ______ ( ______ ( _______( 
Stock as restated  3,209)) -)) 3,209) 
 ______)( ______)( _______( 
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How you can help the RSPB 

There are many ways you can help and this section 
outlines the most common ways people support us - 
just choose whatever suits you.  
 
Join the RSPB 
Whether you want membership for yourself or 
someone else, why not join today? 
 
Remember nature in your will 
If you have had a lifetime's pleasure from nature, 
why not help ensure its future by leaving a legacy to 
the RSPB in your will? Any amount, large or small, 
will be put to excellent use. 
 
Campaigns and appeals 
Support our campaigns and appeals and you can 
help our work to secure a healthy environment for 
birds and wildlife. We need your support to help wild 
birds and the wild places they live in - and to 
demand better laws to protect them. 
 
Shopping 
Buy your gifts, bird food, binoculars and a range of 
other products from us. Or support us through 
RSPB Energy, holidays and more. All sales benefit 
the RSPB. 

 
Get involved 
Writing letters and e-mails direct to your MP and 
other decision-makers can really make a difference 
for birds and wildlife. Join other RSPB campaigners 
and make sure your voice is heard. 
 
Fundraise for wildlife 
Have fun and meet like-minded people. Learn new 
skills, put old ones to good use and help birds and 
wildlife while you do it. 
 
Local groups 
An RSPB local group is a great way to meet new 
friends and help out the RSPB where you live. They 
are open to all and you will receive a very warm 
welcome. 
 
Volunteering for the RSPB 
Looking for an exciting and interesting way to make 
a difference for wild birds and the environment? 
Why not consider volunteering? You don't have to 
know anything about birds to volunteer with the 
RSPB.  
 
For more information on how you can support 
the RSPB please visit our website rspb.org.uk 
or telephone Membership Services on 01767 
693680 
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Acknowledgements 2016-17 – thank you  for supporting us 

 

Members and supporters 

The support and loyalty of our members is critical to 
the success and achievements of the RSPB. 
Meeting the rigorous conservation targets that we 
set would not be possible without the enormous 
contributions that members make. Members help in 
many ways, all of them equally important, including: 
financially, through volunteering, by supporting 
RSPB campaigns through letter writing, and by 
helping to deliver RSPB projects on the ground 
through local groups.  We would also like to thank 
all of the supporters who contribute generously 
through in memoriam, raffles, lotteries, payroll 
giving, regular gifts, appeals and other forms of 

support. 

Legacies 

Legacy income makes a vital impact on our 
conservation work each year. Whilst it is impossible 
to thank every single one of our generous 
benefactors here, we would like to mention the 
following: 
 
Mrs Joyce Margaret Anderson 
Mr Victor Robert Arnold 
Mr John Robin Bishop 
Mr Michael Thomas Bishop 
Mr Peter Blud 
Mr Brian Edward Brown 
Mrs Daphne Margaret Ford 
Dr Sylvia Rosalind Meek 
Mrs Meriel Kathleen Moulson 
Mrs Sylvia Parry 
Mr Leonard Wilfred Saunders 
Mr Reginald George Selley 
Mr John Edward Stennett 
Mr Craig Thomas and Mrs Jill Thomas 
Mr Frederick Raymond Trevett 
Mrs Wilna Wilson 

Community groups 

RSPB local groups, RSPB Wildlife Explorer groups 
and RSPB Phoenix groups worked unstintingly over 
the year. Our local groups provide a great focus for 
us in local communities, involve many people in our 
work, and raised over £420,000 for RSPB 
conservation projects during the year.   
 

Volunteers 

The RSPB enjoyed the support of 12,560 
volunteers last year, giving the RSPB a gift of time 
of 954,075 hours. This is equivalent to an extra 558 
full-time staff working for nature conservation.   

These volunteers helped with virtually every aspect 
of the RSPB’s work, and we cannot thank them 
enough for their generous support. Additionally, 
498,000 people gave an hour of their time to 
participate in the RSPB’s Big Garden Birdwatch.    

Heritage Lottery Fund 

The Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) has provided 
essential support for RSPB projects to restore our 
natural heritage and bring nature into people’s 
everyday lives.  The RSPB is indebted to HLF for 
their continued support for our work. 
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Charitable trusts, non-governmental organisations and individual donors 

We are grateful for the support received and would particularly like to acknowledge the following: 

 

• Afra Gent Memorial Trust  

• Agreement on the Conservation of 
Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP) 

• A J H Ashby Will Trust 

• Dr M Baker-Schommer  

• Mr Geoff Ball 

• The Banister Charitable Trust  

• Basel Zoo – Across the River 

• BirdLife International 

• Miss D E Blake 

• British Birdwatching Fair 

• British Trust for Ornithology 

• Cambridge Conservation Initiative (CCI) 

• Sir Charles Chadwyck-Healey 

• Mr R G H Chapman 

• Charities Aid Foundation  

• Charities Trust 

• Comic Relief 

• Conservation International 

• Mrs M J Crawshaw 

• Devon Birds  

• Disney Worldwide Conservation Fund  

• The Arthur Ronald Dyer Charitable Trust 

• John Ellerman Foundation 

• The ERM Foundation  

• Esmée Fairbairn Foundation 

• Fondation Segré  

• The Gannochy Trust  

• Garfield Weston Foundation 

• Ms A M Garnham 

• Gillman Charitable Trusts  

• David and Sarah Gordon 

• Mr Pat and Mrs Karin Goss 

• Miss Pamela Hadley Discretionary Trust 

• The (Doris Louise) Hailes Charitable Trust 

• The Hasluck Charitable Trust 

• International Eco Fund 

• International Seafood Sustainability 
Foundation 

• The Ivo Trust  

• Mrs E M Jones 

• Dr A von Kanel 

• The Kennedy Charitable Trust 

• Walters Kundert Charitable Trust 

• Dr. Peter A Lawrence 

• Leethorne Trust 

• The A G Leventis Foundation 
 

 

• Los Angeles Zoo and Botanical 
Gardens/Greater Los Angeles Zoo 
Association 

• Robert McCracken QC 

• Mrs J H Mihell 

• Miss Pamela Joan Millard Discretionary 
Trust 

• National Birds of Prey Trust 

• The National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 

• The National Trust  

• The Nature Trust (Sandy) Ltd  

• The David and Lucile Packard Foundation  

• Friends of Pagham Harbour  

• Peacock Trust 

• People’s Postcode Lottery 

• Mr M J L Percival  

• Per Undeland 

• Mr C Pettiward  

• Jane and Nick Prentice 

• Rainforest Trust  

• Renewables Grid Initiative, Stiftung 
Mercator and the European Climate 
Foundation  

• Ridgeback Charitable Trust 

• The Rufford Foundation  

• Miss Norah Sharpley Discretionary Trust 

• Mr Nicholas Sherwin and Dame Sarah 
Asplin  

• Size of Wales 

• Peter Smith Charitable Trust for Nature 

• St Aidans Trust Fund 

• Nini Isabel Stewart Trust  

• Sussex Lund  

• Sussex Ornithological Society  

• Sustrans  

• Sir John Swire 

• The Late Miss E M Tyler Charitable Trust  

• Ulster Garden Villages  

• University of Cambridge 

• Vetwork UK  

• Franziska Vogel  

• David and Christine Walmsley 

• Michael and Rosemary Warburg  

• Whitley Animal Protection Trust 

• Colin Williams Charitable Trust  

• Mrs Judith Woodman 

• The Woodspring Trust  
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Landfill Communities Fund  

 
We are grateful for funding support from the following organisations through the Landfill Communities Fund: 

 

• Alpha Resource Management Ltd 

• Angus Environmental Trust 

• Biffa Award 

• Cory Environmental Trust in Britain 

• Cumbria Waste Management Environment 
Trust 

• Derbyshire Environmental Trust 

• EB Scotland 

• FCC Environment through WREN 

• Fife Environment Trust 

• GrantScape 

• Highland Council 

• Ibstock Cory Environmental Trust  

• Impetus Environmental Trust 

• Mick George Community Fund 

• Patersons Quarries Ltd through LandTrust  

• SUEZ Communities Trust Ltd  

• Tarmac Ltd 

• Teesside Environmental Trust 

• Trust for Oxfordshire’s Environment 
(TOE2) 

• Veolia Environmental Trust 

• Veolia North Thames Trust 

• Viridor Credits Environmental Company 
 
 

Business supporters 

The RSPB enjoys successful partnerships with business  supporters to our mutual benefit. We would particularly 
like to acknowledge the following:  

 
• ALDI Stores Ltd 

• Anesco Ltd   

• Appleby (Cayman) Ltd  

• Ardmore Whisky 

• Barratt Developments plc  

• Boehringer Ingelheim Vetmedica GmbH 

• The Botanist Gin  

• The Caravan Club 

• CEMEX UK Ltd  

• Clifford Chance LLP  

• Conservation Grade 

• Co-operative Bank 

• East Village E20  

• Ecotricity Group Ltd 

• The Famous Grouse  

• Hanson UK Ltd  

• HSBC Water Programme  

• Hurtigruten Ltd  

• intu Properties plc   

• Kelda Group Ltd 

• Kettle Produce Ltd  

• Kingfisher plc 

• The Lagavulin Legacy 

• Lush Ltd 

• Marks & Spencer Farming for the Future 
Innovation  

• Marshalls  

• National Grid plc  

• Northumbrian Water  

• PwC  

• Reed Smith LLP 

• Rohan Designs Ltd  

• SABIC  

• ScottishPower  

• ScottishPower Foundation 

• ScottishPower Renewables 

• SSE Renewable Generation 

• Smith & Sons (Bletchington) Ltd  

• Swarovski Optik 

• Tarmac Ltd 

• Tesco Bags of Help  

• Tesco Stores Ltd  

• Tideway 

• TNS Research International  

• Turcan Connell 

• United Utilities plc  

• Walkers Shortbread Ltd 

• Weird Fish Clothing Ltd 

• Withers LLP 

• Wyndham Vacation Rentals  

• Yorkshire Water 

  



RSPB Trustees’ Report and Accounts 2016-17  Acknowledgements  

rspb.org.uk  45 

 

Support from statutory sector and other public bodies   

We are grateful for co-operation and support from organisations of many kinds, and would especially like to thank 
the following: 

 

• Aberdeen Harbour Community Action 
Fund  

• Allen Valleys Landscape Partnership 
through North Pennines AONB 
Partnerships 

• Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council   

• Belfast Harbour Commissioners 

• Big Lottery Fund  

• Big Lottery Fund – People and Places 

• Cairngorms National Park Authority 

• Clackmannanshire Council 

• Clacks Heritage Trust  

• Coastal Communities Fund Grant  

• The Crown Estate 

• Danish Development Assistance 
Programme (DANIDA) 

• Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (Defra) 

• Defra – Darwin Initiative 

• Defra – Darwin Plus 

• Department of Agriculture, Environment 
and Rural Affairs (DAERA) 

• East Lothian Council 

• Environment Agency  

• European Agricultural Fund for Rural 
Development (EAFRD) 

• European Commission – BEST 

• European Commission – DG Environment 

• European Commission – Erasmus+ 

• European Commission – European 
Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) 

• European Commission – LIFE  

• European Commission – Thematic 
Programme for Environment and 
Sustainable Management of Natural 
Resources including Energy (ENRTP) 

• European Union through the European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF)  

• ERDF – INTERREG IVA 2 Seas Cross-
Border Cooperation Programme 2007–
2013 

• ERDF – INTERREG IVA France (Channel) 
England Cooperation Programme 2007–
2013 

• Falkirk Council 

• Fermanagh and Omagh District Council 

• Forestry Commission England  

• Forestry Commission Scotland  

• The German Ministry for the Environment 
and Construction (BMUB) via the German 
State Development Bank (KfW) 

• Global Environment Facility (GEF) 

• Government of South Georgia & the South 
Sandwich Islands 

• Haryana State Government: MoEFCC, 
India 

• Heritage Lottery Fund  

• Heritage Lottery Fund – Heritage Grants 

• Heritage Lottery Fund – Landscape 
Partnerships 

• Heritage Lottery Fund – Our Heritage  

• Highlands and Islands Enterprise 

• Highlands Council  

• Historic Environmental Scotland 

• Isle of Anglesey County Council – 
Sustainable Development Fund  

• Ministry of Environment, Forest & Climate 
Change, Government of India 

• Moors for the Future Partnership  

• Natural England 

• Natural England – Action for Birds in 
England partnership 

• Natural Environment Research Council 

• Natural Resources Wales Cyfoeth Naturiol 
Cymru 

• North Ayrshire Council 

• Orkney Islands Council 

• Peak District National Park Authority  

• Rural Development Programme for 
England (RDPE) 

• Rural Perth & Kinross LEADER 

• SEPA Water Environment Fund  

• Scottish Government  

• Scottish Government – Marine Scotland 
Science 

• Scottish Government Rural Payments and 
Inspections Directorate  

• Scottish Natural Heritage 

• Scottish Natural Heritage Peatland Action 
Fund  

• Scottish Rural Development Programme 

• Solways Wetlands Landscape Partnership 
through Allerdale Borough Council 

• Somerset County Council  

• Sport England  

• Stirling Council 

• Tees Valley Community Foundation  

• Teesdale Area Action Partnership Fund via  
Mid Teesdale Project Partnership  

• Teignbridge District Council 

• Tourism NI 

• The US Fish and Wildlife Service – Wildlife 
Without Borders 

• VisitAberdeenshire 

• Waterways Ireland 

• Welsh Government – Core Funding  

• Welsh Government – Glastir 

• West Sussex County Council  

• Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority   
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